Agreement Between

Mercer Island School District #400

and

Mercer Island Education Association

for

Classified Employees

This Agreement Shall Be Effective From September 1, 2018 - August 31, 2020

Ratified By the Mercer Island Education Association and the Mercer Island School District #400

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PREAMBLE	1
	WITNESSETH	1
	ARTICLE I – RECOGNITION AND DEFINITIONS	2
	Section 1 – Recognition	
	Section 2 – Definitions	
	ARTICLE II – STATUS AND ADMINISTRATION OF AGREEMENTS	4
	Section 1 – Ratification and Mutual Consent	4
	Section 2 – Status of the Agreement	4
	Section 3 – Contract Compliance	4
	Section 4 – Conformity to Law	4
	Section 5 - Distribution of Agreement	4
	ARTICLE III – ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	_
	Section 1 – Status of the Association	
	Section 2 – Transaction of Association Business	
	Section 3 – Exchange of Information	
	Section 4 – Prior Notification	
	Section 5 – Responsibility for Representation	
	Section 6 – Membership Administration	
	Section 7 – Hold Harmless	
	Section 8 – Payroll Deductions	
	Section 9 – Notification of New Employees	
	Section 10 – Leave for the Association President	
	Section 11 – Association President	
	Section 12 – District/Association Collaborative Budget Committee	
	Section 13 – Meetings with Association President	8
	ARTICLE IV - EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	10
	Section 1 – Individual Rights	10
	Section 2 – Right to Join and Support Association	10
	Section 3 – Right to Due Process	10
	Section 4 – Personnel Files	11
	Section 5 – Employee and Student Protection, and Notification of Health and	Safety
Inf	formation	
	Section 6 – Student Discipline	
	Section 7 – Nonteaching Duties	
	Section 8 – Employee Tools and Equipment	13

	Section 9 – Unsafe District Vehicles	13
	Section 10 – New Employee Orientation	.13
	Section 11 – Distribution of Paraprofessional Time	.14
	Section 12 - Distribution and Allocation of Special Expenditures	.15
	Section 13 – Site-based Council	15
	Section 14 – Professional Involvement	.15
	Section 15 – Training and Mentoring	.15
	Section 16 - Classified Staff Meeting	16
	Section 17 – Principal's Cabinet	16
	Section 18 – School Sponsored Media	. 17
AR	TICLE V – PERSONNEL ACTIONS	. 18
	Section 1 – Individual Employee Letters of Assignment	.18
	Section 2 – Supplemental Letters of Assignment	.19
	Section 3 – Release from Letter of Assignment	20
	Section 4 – Assignment, Vacancies, Voluntary Transfers and Involuntary Transfers.	20
	Section 5 – Direct Deposit of Wages Paid	21
	Section 6 – Staff Calendar	21
	Section 7 – Insurance Benefits	21
	Section 8 – Fringe Benefit Pool	22
	Section 9 – Contract Termination Compensation	22
	Section 10 – Travel Reimbursement	23
	Section 11 – Incidental Release Time	23
	Section 12 - Classified Job Descriptions	23
	Section 13 – Reclassification	23
	Section 14 - Classified Vacation & Holidays	24
	Section 15 – Classified Optional Work and Training Hours	26
	Section 16 - Classified Employees Salary Schedule	26
	Section 17 - Classified Overtime Pay	27
	Section 18 – Experience Credit and Step Advancement	27
	Section 19 - Classified Probation	28
	Section 20 - Classified Employees Shift Differential	28
	Section 21 - Classified Work Schedule and Minimum Guarantees	28
	Section 22 - Classified Bus Driver Schedule	28
	Section 23 – Video Cameras on School Buses	29
	Section 24 - Classified Summer Work Schedule	29
	Section 25 - Classified Work Day/Week	29
	Section 26 - Classified Rehires	29
_	Section 27 – Compensation for Temporary Coverage and Classified Substitute	_
aria	e e	30

	Section 28 – Overnight Field Trips	30
	Section 29 - Educational Staff Associate (ESA) Interns	30
	ARTICLE VI – LEAVES	31
	Section 1 – Leave Allowances	31
	Section 2 - Sick-leave Conversion	32
	Section 3 – Family and Medical Leave	32
	Section 4 – Maternity Disability Leave	33
	Section 5 – Parental Leave for Paternity or Adoption	33
	Section 6 - Leave of Absence Without Pay	34
	Section 7 – Military Leave	34
	Section 8 – Jury Duty and Subpoena Leave	35
	Section 9 - Attendance at Meetings, Conferences and Special Events	35
	Section 10 – Association Leave	35
	ARTICLE VII – LAYOFF, ADVERSE EFFECT, AND RECALL	26
	Goals and Criteria	
	Section 1 – Program Reductions	
	Section 2 – Seniority	
	Section 3 – Timeline for Notice of Seniority Ranking	
	Section 4 – Layoff/Adverse Effect/Reduction in Force	
	Section 5 – Notice of Layoff/Adverse/Reduction in Force	
	Section 6 – Recall	
	ARTICLE VIII – EVALUATION	40
	Section 1 - Classified Evaluation	40
	Section 2 – Probation	41
	Section 3 – Termination	42
	Section 4 – Evaluation of Supplemental Contracts	42
	Section 5 – Evaluation of Supplemental Contracts for Coaches at the Second	-
•••		43
	ARTICLE IX - DRUG/ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM	
	Section 1 – Drug Free Workplace	
	Section 2 – Drug and Alcohol Testing Program	44
	ARTICLE X – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES	47
	Section 1 – Purpose	47
	Section 2 - Definitions	47
	Section 3 – General Conditions	
	Section 4 – Grievance Procedure	48

ARTICLE XI – SALARIES AND COMPLIANCE	50
ARTICLE XII – TERMS OF AGREEMENT	51
EXECUTION/SIGNATURES	52

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX A – FORMS	50
INVENTORY OF PERSONNEL FILES	51
LETTER OF ASSIGNMENT	52
CLASSIFIED SITE ORIENTATION	53
PLAN FOR MISSED BREAKS	54
CLASSIFIED 24 HOUR OPTIONAL WORK AND TRAINING AGREEMENT	55
COMPLETED 24 HOUR OPTIONAL WORK AND TRAINING RECORD	56
PERSONAL BUSINESS HOURS	57
FORM A – COMPLAINT BY THE AGGRIEVED	58
FORM B - DECISION OF IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR	59
FORM C - DECISION OF SUPERINTENDENT OR HIRING OFFICER	60
FORM D – DETERMINATIN REGARDING ARBITRATION	61
APPENDIX B – SCHEDULES	63
CATEGORIES OF SENIORITY	64
CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE	65
SUPPLEMENTAL SALARY SCHEDULE	66
EXTRA-CURRICULAR SALARY SCHEDULE	67
2017-18 SCHOOL CALENDAR	68
2018-19 SCHOOL CALENDAR	69
APPENDIX C – EVALUATION FORMS	70
CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEE EVALUATION REPORT	71
CLASSIFIED LETTER OF PROBATION	72

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is entered into between the Board of Directors on behalf of the Mercer Island School District #400, King County, State of Washington, herein referred to as the "District" and the Mercer Island Education Association, herein referred to as the "Association."

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Board and the Association recognize and declare that providing a quality education for the children of Mercer Island is their mutual aim and that the character of such education depends in large part upon the quality of the employees, and

WHEREAS, the Board has a statutory obligation, pursuant to the Public Employees Collective Bargaining Act, Chapter 41.56 RCW, to bargain with the Association as the exclusive representative of its personnel with respect to hours, wages, terms and conditions of employment, and

WHEREAS, the parties have reached certain understandings which they desire to confirm in this Agreement,

In consideration of the preceding mutual covenants, it is hereby agreed as follows:

ARTICLE I – RECOGNITION AND DEFINITIONS

Section 1 - Recognition

The Board recognizes the Mercer Island Education Association (herein after, "Association" or "MIEA") as the sole and exclusive representative for all employees included in the bargaining unit as delineated in parts A, and B hereof.

- A. All persons filling co-curricular positions as listed on the classified co-curricular Supplemental Salary Schedule and the Coaching Extra-Curricular Salary Schedule and/or issued supplemental contracts, excluding administrators.
- B. All classified employees listed in the "Categories of Seniority" in Appendix B of this contract, including, but not limited to, administrative assistants, bus drivers, secretaries, para-educators, activities coordinator, athletic trainer, dispatcher, flagger, interpreter, library and account clerks, lot attendant, registered nurse, licensed practical nurse, playground supervisor, security liaison, and technology specialists, excluding the following positions:
 - Administrative Assistant Accounts Pavable
 - Administrative Assistant Purchasing & Business
 - Administrative Assistant Human Resources
 - Executive Assistant to the Superintendent
 - Network Engineer I
 - Network Engineer II
 - Technology Engineer
 - Information Systems Coordinator
 - Public Records and Information Officer
 - Human Resources Coordinator
 - Budget Coordinator
 - Payroll and Benefits Coordinator
 - Instructional Services Coordinator
 - Personnel Assistant
 - Capital Project Coordinator

Also excluded are students enrolled in public school and employed by the District; temporary summer employees; employees who are paid on an hourly rate and who work thirty (30) or fewer days in any twelve-month period ending during the current or immediately preceding school year; custodial employees; maintenance and operations employees; and warehouse employees.

Section 2 – Definitions

Unless the context in which they are used clearly requires otherwise, when used in this Agreement:

The term "Agreement" shall mean this entire contract and any subsequent addenda mutually agreed upon during the period of the contract.

The term "Association" shall mean the Mercer Island Education Association.

The term "Board" shall mean the Board of Directors of the Mercer Island School District #400, also referred to as "employer".

The term "District" shall mean the Mercer Island School District #400.

The term "employee" shall mean all nonsupervisory classified employees being paid on the Classified Salary Schedule and all employees on classified supplemental contracts who are represented by this bargaining unit and their substitutes.

ARTICLE I - RECOGNITION AND DEFINITIONS

The term "voluntary transfer" shall mean the transfer of an employee from one position to another at his/her written request.

The term "vacancy" shall mean a position not filled by an employee.

The term "involuntary transfer" shall mean any transfer which is not a voluntary transfer.

The term "classified employee" shall mean a nonsupervisory classified bargaining unit employee

The term "days" shall mean employee work days unless otherwise specifically defined in this Agreement.

The term "Act" shall mean the Public Employees Collective Bargaining Act, Chap. 41.56 RCW, Laws of 1986.

The term "limited contract" shall mean a contract issued to an employee who has been hired to fill a position temporarily vacant due to leave of absence or sabbatical leave.

The term "classified limited letter of assignment" shall mean a letter issued to a classified employee who has, (a) been hired to fill a position temporarily vacant due to leave of absence, or (b) been hired to fill a position created for a temporary situation or need.

The term "assignment" shall mean notification and placement of an employee in a position in a particular academic year.

The term "prior notification" is defined to be receipt by the Association of the board agenda at the same time it is being delivered to Board members.

The term "student discipline" shall mean the forms of corrective action or punishment, other than suspension or expulsion, taken by employees.

The term "Extra-Curricular" shall refer to athletic coaching and other positions which do not require a professional educational certificate as set forth in Appendix B Coaching Extra-Curricular Salary Schedule.

Unless the context in which they are used clearly requires otherwise, words used in this contract denoting gender shall include all genders; words denoting number shall include both singular and plural.

ARTICLE II - STATUS AND ADMINISTRATION OF AGREEMENTS

Section 1 - Ratification and Mutual Consent

This Agreement, upon ratification by the Board and the Association, shall be signed by authorized representatives thereof and may be amended or modified during its term only with mutual consent in writing of the Board and Association.

Section 2 – Status of the Agreement

This Agreement shall supersede any policies, rules, regulations, resolutions, procedures, and practices of the District which shall be contrary to or inconsistent with its terms as they may relate to employees represented by the Association. Existing rules, regulations, policies, resolutions, and practices of the District not in conflict with this Agreement shall remain in full effect unless appropriately changed.

Section 3 – Contract Compliance

All individual letters of assignment shall be subject to and consistent with Washington State law and the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Any individual employee letter of assignment hereinafter executed shall expressly state that it is subject to the terms of this and subsequent agreements between the Board and the Association. If any Individual letters of assignment contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement during its duration shall be controlling.

Section 4 – Conformity to Law

This Agreement shall be governed and construed according to the Constitution and laws of the United States and the State of Washington. If any provision of this Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees covered hereby shall be found contrary to the law, such provision or application shall have effect only to the extent permitted by law and all other provisions or applications of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

Section 5 – Distribution of Agreement

Within forty-five (45) days following the signing of this Agreement, the District shall post this Agreement on the district's website for access by all employees covered by the Agreement. The District shall provide the Association twenty-five (25) printed copies of this Agreement. Additional copies shall be provided to the Association, upon request, at Association expense.

ARTICLE III - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

Section 1 - Status of the Association

Throughout this Agreement certain rights and functions are accorded to the Association which are in addition to the rights and functions provided for in the rules, regulations, policies, resolutions and practices of the District. These rights and functions are afforded to the Association as the legal representative for all employees covered under this Agreement. Rights and privileges afforded the Association shall not be granted to a minority organization seeking to represent employees officially represented by the Association.

Section 2 - Transaction of Association Business

Duly authorized representatives of the Association shall be permitted to hold meetings, have an office, and to transact official Association business on school property at all reasonable times, provided this shall not interfere with or interrupt normal school operations. When requested, time for transacting Association business shall be granted at staff meetings. A duly authorized representative of the Association and a building administrator will meet monthly to discuss current and emerging labor concerns.

The Association may use District facilities and equipment including typewriters, computers, duplicating equipment, calculating machines, and all types of audio-visual equipment at reasonable times when such equipment is not otherwise in use.

The Association shall have the right to utilize the bulletin board or place an Association bulletin board in each faculty lounge in each building in the District.

The Association shall have the right to use the District mail service and employee mail boxes for communication purposes provided the material is identified as Association material.

The Association and its representatives shall have access to all District buildings during regular working hours, or as otherwise scheduled, to confer with Association members. In conferring with members during working hours, the Association shall confer with the employee's supervisor concerning appropriate times.

The Association shall be granted two (2) days a month after school other than Friday exclusively for Association meetings. These and other meetings of the Association shall appear on the District's meeting schedule for the year so as to minimize time conflicts between Association and District activities.

Section 3 – Exchange of Information

The Board, through its designated representative, and the Association agree to provide information needed for developing proposals for bargaining, for policy development, and for preparation of grievance cases. This information shall include, but not be limited to, complete and accurate financial statements or reports on amounts and sources of income, expenditure outlays, enrollments, number of employees, number of classified employees by position, policies and regulations, reports, agendas and minutes of Board and committee meetings as requested.

Prior to the first day of each school year, the District will provide the Association with a list of names of new hires and their assignment and location. By September 30, the District will provide home addresses and phone numbers on all new hires. For employees hired after this date, the District shall provide the Association with its regular Board employment report and addenda which will include the following: all newly hired classified employees, all supplemental contract and Coaching Extra-Curricular positions, all retirements, resignations, and leave of absence requests.

ARTICLE III - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

Section 4 - Prior Notification

Prior notification is defined as receipt by the Association of the Board agenda at the same time it is being delivered to the Board members. The Association shall have the right to an appointment with the Superintendent before the Board meeting.

Section 5 – Responsibility for Representation

The Association has the full and exclusive right to represent the employees of the District as defined by this Agreement.

Section 6 - Membership Administration

No bargaining unit employee shall be required to become a member of the Association as a condition of employment. Each employee shall have the right to join, not join, maintain, or drop Association membership. It is recognized that the Association is required both under law and under this Agreement to represent all of the employees in the bargaining unit fairly and equally without regard to whether or not an employee is a member of the Association.

Association Membership Dues and Assessments

The District shall make a payroll deduction for Association dues and assessments upon receipt of a written authorization executed by an individual employee.

Employees who choose to become a member of the Association and choose not to use the payroll deductions will pay Association dues and assessments in a lump sum in cash by September 15 of each year of employment, or the prorated amount within ten (10) days of employment if hired after the September pay period.

On or before August 15 of each school year the Association shall give written notice to the District of the dollar amount of dues and assessments of the Association and its affiliates, including the National Education Association and the Washington Education Association, which are to be deducted in the coming year under payroll deduction. Normally the total for these deductions shall not be subject to change during the school year.

Based upon the established annual rate, beginning with the September pay period, a deduction shall be made from each monthly pay warrant in equal amounts as authorized the employee for dues and assessments. These deductions will continue through the pay period, and shall each year be deducted according to the annual rate for that year from each monthly warrant so authorized.

Employees who begin work after the September pay period shall have dues and assessments deducted from each monthly pay warrant based upon a prorated share of the balance remaining from the current annual rate for said employment and shall continue at the established annual rate in the following years.

Each month the District will send directly to the Washington Education Association (WEA) or designee all monies deducted from classified personnel warrants for dues and assessments accompanied by a list of names of those employees from whose warrants the deductions have been made.

The Association agrees to reimburse any employee who pays an amount in excess of the rate required for dues and assessments, equivalent to that received in overpayment, provided that the Association or its affiliates actually received the excess amount.

ARTICLE III – ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

Section 7 - Hold Harmless

The Association and the Washington Education Association agree to indemnify and save the District harmless against any liability that may arise by reason of any action taken by the District to comply with the provisions of Section 6. The District agrees to notify the Association promptly in writing of any claim, demand, suit, or other form of liability arising out of implementation of this section.

Section 8 - Payroll Deductions

The following payroll deductions shall or may be made:

- 1. State Employees' Retirement System
- 2. Federal Withholding Tax
- 3. FICA as provided by law
- 4. Absences not provided for by leaves for classified employees are docked at hourly rate for each hour of absence.
- 5. Dues and assessments (in accordance with this section)

The following deductions may be made if authorized by the individual:

- 1. Additional withholding tax
- 2. Approved medical plans
- 3. Salary insurance
- 4. Tax sheltered annuities
- 5. Payment to Washington State Employees Credit Union
- 6. Other approved insurance programs
- 7. Other approved programs
- 8. Tax sheltered mutual funds
- 9. Medicare
- 10. Sec. 125 plans
- 11. WEA-PAC and/or NEA-FCPE

Section 9 – Notification of New Employees

At the time the District hires employees new to the District, it will be the responsibility of the District to inform new employees where to locate the Agreement on the District's website, and distribute APA forms, approved District insurance forms, and Authorization for Deduction of Association Membership Fees.

The District will provide the Association reasonable access to new employees of the bargaining unit for the purposes of presenting information about their exclusive bargaining representative to the new employee. The Association President and MIEA representatives designated by the MIEA President will be included on the agenda of the District's program for the orientation of new employees. If an Association representative is not available to attend the District's new employee orientation, the Association may present at another time mutually agreed to by the employer and Association. No employee may be mandated to attend the meetings or presentations by the Association.

"Reasonable access" for the purposes of this section means: (a) The access to the new employee occurs within ninety days of the employee's start date within the bargaining unit; (b) The access is for forty-five minutes; and (c) The access occurs during the new employee's regular work hours at the employee's regular worksite, or at a location mutually agreed to by the employer and Association. The parties agree that it is preferential for such meetings to occur for classified employees during initial intake/orientation at

ARTICLE III - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

District offices and when there are groups of employees being oriented at the same time. MIEA will make an effort to make themselves available to access employees during such time.

Section 10 – Leave for the Association President

The District shall grant a .600 or other mutually-agreed upon FTE leave of absence to the President of the Association for the duration of the term. The President of the Association may or may not use this leave of absence. The time of day within the school day that the leave is used shall be determined by the Association, and the Association shall so notify the District by April 1 to minimize the effect upon the school program.

During the leave, the District shall make salary payments and provide fringe benefits on behalf of the President as if he/she were not on leave, provided that the Association quarterly (1/4) reimburses the District. In addition, any credit for state retirement shall be granted as if the President of the Association were not on leave. This section shall also apply for the leave of absence of a district staff member to serve as WEA or UniServ President.

The Association agrees to indemnify and hold the District harmless against any claims and demands that may arise out of or by reason of the District's compliance with the terms of this section.

Section 11 - Association President

The Association President shall not be adversely affected by reason of reduction in force, notwithstanding any provisions to the contract of Article VII, Section 1 of the Agreement concerning layoff, adverse effect, and recall of nonsupervisory classified employees. The Association shall notify the District by April 1 of each year who the Association President will be for the year in which a RIF might be implemented.

Section 12 – District/Association Collaborative Budget Committee

The District/Association Collaborative Budget Committee will consist of the Superintendent and/or Associate Superintendent for Business (Administration) and three representatives of the Association.

The purpose of the Collaborative Budget Committee is to review the district budget and identify unfunded needs for the current year.

The Collaborative Budget Committee will meet at least twice during the year, January and April, to review the budget and develop recommendations for the reallocation of any predictable budget capacity. Prior to the meetings, the Administration will have developed a priority needs list and the Association will have developed priority requests for additional budget funding. The committee will forward its recommendations to the Superintendent for consideration.

Section 13 – Meetings with Association President

- A. Association President and Superintendent Meetings The Superintendent and Association president shall meet monthly during the school year at mutually agreeable times to discuss emerging issues, district practices or concerns, and the administration of this Agreement. Additional meetings may be held if requested by either party. Either party may submit agenda items for discussion. Either party may invite additional participants to such meetings. The monthly meeting may be cancelled or postponed upon mutual agreement.
- B. Association President and Human Resources Meetings The most senior-ranking member of Human Resources and Association president shall meet at least monthly during the school year to discuss interpretation or application of this Agreement, personnel matters, and issues and questions that may arise. The meetings will be a problem-solving forum. Either party may submit

ARTICLE III - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

agenda items for discussion. Either party may invite additional participants to such meetings. The monthly meeting may be cancelled or postponed upon mutual agreement.

Section 1 - Individual Rights

Employees shall be entitled to full rights of citizenship. There shall be no discipline or discrimination with respect to the employment of any person because of such person's age, honorably-discharged veteran or military status, gender, marital status, sexual orientation including gender expression or identity, the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a person with a disability, race, creed, color, national origin, domicile, political activity or lack thereof, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability, unless based upon a bonafide occupational qualification, provided that the prohibition against discrimination because of such disability shall not apply if the particular disability prevents the proper performance of the particular worker involved. The district shall comply with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act.

The District shall not discriminate in any way against any employee on account of his/her membership in any lawful organization or the exercise of any rights guaranteed under the law according to the Revised Code of Washington and the Washington Administrative Code, and the United States Constitution.

Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny or restrict to any employee such rights as he/she may have under applicable laws and regulations. The rights recognized here-under shall not be exclusive, but are in addition to those provided elsewhere.

Section 2 – Right to Join and Support Association

Employees of the District who are represented by the Association shall have the right to freely organize, join and support the Association. As a duly elected body exercising governmental power under the State of Washington, the Board shall not directly or indirectly discourage or deprive any employee of the enjoyment of any rights conferred by the statutes and constitutions of the State of Washington and the United States; or discriminate against any employee with respect to hours, wages, or any terms or conditions of employment by reason of membership in the Association, participation in any grievances, complaint, or proceeding under the Agreement or otherwise with respect to terms of conditions of employment.

Section 3 – Right to Due Process

All employees within the bargaining unit are entitled to due process.

The Board agrees to make clear expectations for employees. Letters of Direction will be used by the District to clarify expectations, prior to initiating progressive discipline where appropriate under the circumstances.

The Board agrees to follow a policy of progressive discipline, where appropriate under the circumstances, which includes written warnings and reprimands, suspension with pay, suspension without pay, or discharge. Any disciplinary action taken against an employee shall be appropriate to the behavior which precipitates such action. No employee shall be disciplined (including warnings, reprimands, suspensions or discharge) without just or sufficient cause. Any such discipline shall be subject to the grievance procedure. The District will notify the Association as to the occurrence of the disciplinary action.

Any derogatory document not provided to an employee within fifteen (15) working days after receipt or composition shall not be allowed as evidence in any grievance or in any disciplinary action against such employee. No evaluation, correspondence, or other material making derogatory reference to an employee's character or manner shall be kept or placed in his/her personnel file(s) without the employee having indicated he/she has seen the material by signing and dating it, being provided a copy of the material, and having the opportunity to attach his/her own comments. Such written response shall become part of the employee's written personnel records.

Employees have the right to have a representative of the Association and/or counsel present when being disciplined. In the event disciplinary action is to be taken, the employee shall be advised of the right to representation prior to action being taken. When a request for representation is made, no action shall be taken with respect to the employee until such representation of the Association and/or counsel is present. Employees, who are subject to an investigatory conference for possible disciplinary action, will be notified by the district in advance that the employee has the right to representation during the conference involving the district and the employee. All information forming the basis for any disciplinary action shall be made available to the employee.

Section 4 - Personnel Files

- Any material put into an employee's file(s) must be shown to the employee within fifteen (15)
 working days after receipt or composition, except for timelines related to Article VIII and state law
 pertaining to formal evaluations.
 - a. The employee's affixed signature and date to the material is an acknowledgement the employee has seen the material and does not necessarily indicate the employee agrees with the content of the material.
 - b. If an employee refuses to sign and date material to be included in his/her file(s), the Association may sign the material verifying the employee has reviewed the material.
 - c. Employees will have the opportunity to attach written comment to any materials placed in his/her file.
 - d. At any time that material is found in an employee's personnel file(s) without the employee's signature and date of review, the material will be removed and shall not be used in any part of evaluation or discipline, except as required under WAC 180-88-010 et seq in material pertaining to sexual misconduct as defined by WAS 180-88-060, (1-5). When material is found without the appropriate signatures and dates, such materials will be forwarded to the employee within ten work days of the discovery.
 - e. Material may be removed from an employee's personnel file(s) by mutual agreement, except as prohibited under WAC 180-88-010 et seq.
- 2. Each employee shall have the right to review by prior appointment all materials in his/her personnel file(s).
- 3. Employees may include in his/her personnel file(s) a signed inventory sheet (Appendix A) to verify the contents of his/her file(s) at the time of inspection by the employee.
- 4. The content of personnel file(s) related to evaluation, performance, discipline and potential discipline for employees is confidential, except documents which are not exempt from public disclosure under chapter 42.56 RCW.
 - a. Any time the District places an employee on administrative leave or suspension, or initiates an investigation into an employee's behavior, and instructs the employee not to discuss the issue related to the action, the District also will not comment on the action or the content of the personnel files.
 - b. Should the District choose to comment on the action or content of the personnel files, the District will notify the Association prior to the issuance of the comment in a timely manner to allow Association response. The employee will no longer be bound by any restriction on their communication.

c. Any requests for information on employees under chapter 42.56 RCW, The Public Disclosure Act, and communication about the requests will be shared with the Association and the employee.

Section 5 - Employee and Student Protection, and Notification of Health and Safety Information

- A. The Board shall provide for the safety and well-being of employees during the workday and when they are supervising a school-sponsored activity or on school-provided transportation. Employees shall be covered by the District under the District's liability insurance and state industrial accident programs.
- B. To ensure that all students are provided the best educational opportunities possible in a safe and caring environment, it is important that employees with a legitimate, educational interest receive information relevant to the health and safety of the students they serve. An employee has a legitimate, educational interest if the employee needs to review a student's education record or be aware of the contents of a student's education records to fulfill his or her professional responsibilities. All student information provided to employees under this section shall be utilized in a judicious and professional manner for the sole purpose of providing the best educational opportunities for each student while protecting the health and safety of all employees and students in the District.
- C. When enrolling a student who has attended school in another school district, the school enrolling the student will request the parent or guardian and the student to briefly indicate in writing whether the student has:
 - 1. Any history of placement in special educational programs;
 - 2. Any past, current, or pending disciplinary action;
 - 3. Any history of violent or disruptive behavior, gang membership, or criminal behavior; and
 - Any health conditions affecting the student's educational needs, including any history of self-harm and behavioral or emotional concerns.

The school enrolling the student shall also request the school that the student previously attended to send the student's permanent record including records of disciplinary action, history of violent or behavior listed in RCW 13.04.155, attendance, immunization records, and academic performance.

- D. An employee who receives information that a student has a history of behavior that indicates the student could be a threat to the safety of staff or students shall notify the principal or other supervising administrator as soon as reasonably possible. When a school receives information, upon enrollment or at some subsequent time, that a student has a history of disciplinary actions, criminal or violent behavior, or other behavior that indicates the student could be a threat to the safety of staff or students, the principal shall provide this information to each employee assigned to the student as well as to other employees who have a legitimate, educational interest in the information as soon as reasonably possible.
- E. Any employee who is threatened with bodily harm by an individual or a group while carrying out the employee's assigned duties shall notify the appropriate administrator as soon as possible. The administrator shall notify the Superintendent or the superintendent's designee of the threat and take immediate steps in cooperation with the employee to provide every reasonable precaution for the employee's safety. Precautionary steps shall be reported to the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee at the earliest possible time.

Section 6 - Student Discipline

Discipline shall be enforced fairly and consistently regardless of race, nationality, creed, sex, or marital status.

It will be the responsibility of each building principal to confer at least annually with all employees in their building for the purpose of developing, reviewing, or both, building discipline standards and uniform enforcement of those standards. These standards shall be written and copies shall be given to each employee. Where necessary, training shall be provided to assist employees in enforcing building discipline rules.

Building administrators and employees who are responsible for discipline, as defined in their job descriptions or as written in building discipline standards, shall cooperate in maintaining discipline by the application of written procedures specified in District policies, rules and regulations, and in building discipline standards for students K-12, on the school campus or at school-sponsored activities. Employees shall be supported by the Board, Superintendent, and administrators when employees are enforcing building discipline standards and District disciplinary policies.

Section 7 - Nonteaching Duties

No classified employee shall be asked to cover a class except in cases of emergency.

Section 8 – Employee Tools and Equipment

Employees shall not be required to furnish their own tools and equipment.

Section 9 - Unsafe District Vehicles

No classified employee shall be required to drive any vehicle which is not in a safe operating condition. In the event the employee should discover a vehicle to be defective, he/she must immediately notify his/her supervisor and/or the maintenance mechanic in writing.

After consultation with the employee and/or the maintenance mechanic, the supervisor or his designee shall have the final authority to determine whether a vehicle may be safely operated. This shall be in writing and a copy given to the employee.

Upon request, an employee shall be advised in writing of any action taken on the requested repairs of his/her vehicle by the mechanic.

Section 10 - New Employee Orientation

- A. The District shall provide each new employee at least seven (7) hours of orientation at or near the start of the employee's start of duties, split between the employee's assigned building/worksite and Human Resources, with a minimum of 3 hours in the employee's assigned building or worksite. For employees hired to work in more than one worksite or building, additional orientation time may be added if necessary to orient the employee to systems or expectations unique to each site. Orientation time will occur during the employee's regularly-scheduled assignment or be time-carded if it is outside the normal school year or the employee's regular assignment.
- B. Orientation time for employees solely in positions on the Supplemental Salary Schedule or the Coaching Extra-Curricular Schedule may be less than the hours identified above and orientation may be included within the stipend for the position.

- C. The Human Resources orientation session shall include, but not be limited to, an overview of the following topics as they relate to the employee's specific position:
 - · Job description;
 - Required permits, licenses and/or training;
 - Work day, work hours, duty-free lunch, break periods, the process for plan for making up missed breaks due to unforeseen job-related circumstances (Appendix A, Forms), work week, and annual work calendar;
 - Work location(s);
 - Placement on the salary schedule (lane and step);
 - The purpose of and access to Optional Work/Training Hours;
 - The purpose of and access to Technology Training Hours;
 - Sick leave and other leave benefits:
 - Access and orientation to use of the substitute system (SubOnline or other system), including sign-in information, and substitute coordinator contact information;
 - Employer-paid insurance plans available to the employee with a calculation of the available premium subsidy based on the employee's FTE, and an insurance selection worksheet for choosing a medical insurance plan;
 - Voluntary, employee-paid, insurance options;
 - Retirement plan information and resources for retirement planning;
 - · Association membership dues and assessments deduction;
 - Collective bargaining agreement; and
 - Staff Resources on the District's website.
- D. A Building level administrator or designee will meet with the new employee prior to the employee assuming duties and review pertinent information for building level orientation including but not limited to an overview of the following topics as they relate to the employee's specific position:
 - Assignment of evaluator and the evaluation system for classified staff;
 - Job responsibilities and expectations;
 - Plan for making up missed breaks due to unforeseen job-related circumstances (Appendix A, Forms)
 - Supervisory staff and building or worksite staff;
 - Opportunities for Optional Work/Training Hours and how to access them at the worksite;
 - Opportunities for Technology Training Hours and how to access them at the worksite;
 - Tour of building, facilities and school grounds;
 - Access to computers, email, mailboxes, and phones, and other job-related equipment;
 - Access to the staff handbook and its key contents;
 - Logistical information for employee's work time (time carding, breaks, work day expectations);
 - Mentor and mentoring plan for the building or work site; and
 - Space for personal items.

Section 11 – Distribution of Paraprofessional Time

The staff in respective buildings shall have the opportunity to provide input into decisions about use of paraprofessional time. Paraprofessional time should be related to direct classroom assistance.

Section 12 - Distribution and Allocation of Special Expenditures

Funds provided pursuant to WAC 392-140 "Instructional materials and technology related investment allocations "will be distributed to the school building on a per FTE student basis.

The site council or its designee shall make all decisions as to the expenditures of such funds in a manner in compliance with State guidelines.

Section 13 - Site-based Council

A site-based council may be formed_at each of the seven sites (Maintenance & Operations Building and each of the six schools) whose purpose shall be to create a process for collaboration at the local level for issues limited to that particular building. The principal/site administrator shall be responsible for establishing and facilitating the work of the site council.

When Site-based Councils are established, council members shall be selected or elected by their constituent groups and shall include parents, community members, certificated and classified staff and, where appropriate, students.

The council in a given site shall establish written procedures for the conduct of the council and its business; make provision for conducting council meetings, determining the number of meetings, publishing agendas and minutes.

Site council memberships are supplemental contracts pursuant to RCW 28A.400.200 (4).

The ratio of certificated/classified positions will be equal to the number of parents, administrators and/or students.

Authority of the site-based council shall be subject to and consistent with state law, budget amounts, and the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Section 14 - Professional Involvement

In order to ensure communication, articulation and coordination in curriculum development and delivery, and to encourage curriculum innovation, the District and the Association will establish a committee whose membership will include, but not be limited to, non-supervisory staff, representative of grade levels, buildings and curricular areas. The Association will appoint a representative to the committee.

Section 15 - Training and Mentoring

- A. The District will provide training for all new employees and for employees new to a job classification on the systems, roles, expectations and responsibilities necessary for the primary job functions of the employee's position, including any expectations and responsibilities unique to special education or learning support positions. Such training will begin prior to the employee assuming duties and may vary depending on the experience level of the employee or the complexity of the job functions. In addition, the District will continue to provide annual training for Bus Drivers for requirements unique to their position.
- B. In addition to the District-provided training noted above, each school and the Transportation Department shall designate a mentor for classified employees new to the District or new to a job classification. The Administration Building allocation will be used for mentoring employees assigned to the Administration Building and for any building that needs more training funds. Mentoring shall be supported with the following budgeted allocations:

Each Elementary School

\$2,000

Middle School	\$2,500
High School	\$3,000
Transportation Department	\$2,000
Administration Building	\$2,500

Each school and the Transportation Department shall design a mentoring plan that includes flexible support and assistance for an employee's first year in a position depending on the experience level and need of the new employee. Employees who are new to the District or new to a job classification may have different needs for support. The allocation may be used for release time for the mentor and/or mentee, or for additional paid time for the mentor and/or mentee. Mentoring plans that include additional paid time outside the regularly-scheduled work day must include pre-approval from a building administrator for any time to be paid at overtime or other premium rates. Time worked outside the mentor's or mentee's regular schedule will be time carded. At a minimum, a monthly meeting should be scheduled by the mentor and mentee to ensure time is designated for mentoring support.

Mentoring activities may include, but are not limited to, building- or department-level orientation activities, job shadowing, meetings during or outside the regularly-scheduled work day. The following categories have been identified as common areas mentees may need support from mentors, but are not all inclusive:

- Problem solving
- Budget, Purchase Orders, Substitute coordination (for Office Professionals)
- Conflict resolution
- Communication
- SubOnline or other substitute system used by the District
- Work calendar(s)
- Technology
- Office organization and systems
- District processes/procedures
- Strategies for working with students (for Paraeducators)

Section 16 - Classified Staff Meeting

At least three times per year, a principal or designee will host a classified staff meeting in each school building. The first meeting will be held prior to December 1 each year. The purpose of this meeting is to encourage communication, relay building-wide information, discuss concerns or emerging issues, and allow classified perspectives to be shared.

Section 17 - Principal's Cabinet

MISD and MIEA recognize the value of professional experiences, knowledge and insights of the educators who staff each school, and the shared ownership of the staff and the administration in the success of the school. Staff input into building based-decisions is valued. Cabinet members contribute and share in the success of the school and engage in professional discourse around school improvement and professional practices. The Principal's Cabinet provides guidance and feedback on building level initiatives as well as identifies and addresses concerns at the building level.

The Principal's Cabinet shall include at least one (1) classified employee selected by the principal after seeking input from staff and consulting with the MIEA building rep(s). Each classified cabinet member will be paid his or her regular hourly rate for participation in cabinet meetings (including overtime if applicable). Other classified employees may be invited and included in cabinet meetings when topics are relevant to the employee's areas of expertise and will be time-carded at the employee's hourly rate (including overtime if applicable) for the employee's participation.

Every school year, each Principal's Cabinet shall establish and publish norms for building meeting agendas, recording notes and decisions made in meetings, and communicating results of meetings to the entire staff.

Section 18 - School Sponsored Media

An employee employed, assigned or designated by the District to supervise or provide instruction relating to school-sponsored media is afforded the rights and subject to the responsibilities in RCW 28A.600.027.

ARTICLE V - PERSONNEL ACTIONS

Section 1 – Individual Employee Letters of Assignment

The District shall provide each classified employee with a Letter of Assignment at the time of employment in conformity with Washington State Law, State Board of Education regulations, and this Agreement, with the following exceptions:

- 1. A limited letter of assignment shall not be issued for less than forty five (45) working days.
- 2. Employees who are replacing a person on a leave of absence as defined within the leave section shall be issued a classified limited letter of assignment if the approved absence exceeds forty five (45) days.
- 3. Classified employees who have been hired to fill a position created for a temporary situation or need shall be issued a classified limited letter of assignment if the assignment exceeds forty five (45) days.
- 4. All employees new to the District shall be issued a Limited Letter of Assignment for the first three years of employment with the district. A Limited Letter of Assignment is limited to the current year. The employee shall be issued a Letter of Assignment for any (all) assignment(s) beginning in his/her fourth year. Employment which begins before March 1 will count as one year of employment.
- 5. Communication and Preparation Time: Letters of assignment for non-clerical paraprofessionals, health room assistants, and bus drivers will include 15 minutes per contract day, paid at their current rate of employment for the purposes of communication and preparation. This time will be built into the employee's daily schedule by the employee's supervisor. The schedule may be modified by mutual agreement of the employee and supervisor. The purpose of this time is to maximize the employee's effectiveness with students by the following types of activities:
 - meeting and conferring with other employees about serving students;
 - checking and responding to work-related e-mails;
 - reviewing IEPs and other planning documents related to serving students; and
 - · preparing materials for service to students.
- 6. **Health Care Preparation:** Nurses will be provided with a supplemental contract for three (3) additional contract days for health plans and health room preparation prior to the start of school in order to meet federal and state requirements.

The classified letter of assignment will include the total work hours, benefit FTE, holiday hours and vacation hours. In addition, the classified limited letter of assignment will include the terms and conditions of work related to the temporary position.

Classified employees receiving a Letter of Assignment, who have performed in a satisfactory manner through the end of their assignment, shall receive a new Letter of Assignment by August 1st, unless there has been a reduction in employees or a reorganization of employees. (See Appendix A for Letters of Assignment.)

The District will issue a letter of "reasonable assurance" for reemployment to classified employees with a limited letter of assignment, who perform in a satisfactory manner and for which funding for the position is assured for the following year, by the end of the current academic school year. Such letter will include notice of the number of hours reasonably assured to the employee. Employees with a limited letter of assignment who perform in a satisfactory manner shall be granted an interview when applying for positions with similar responsibilities.

<u>Full-Time Classified Employee</u>: A full-time equivalent (1.000 FTE) classified employee is defined as a classified employee assigned 2,080 hours per year (260 days times 8 hours per day). The calculation of 2,080 hours shall include holidays and accrued vacation days. The definition of full-time classified employee for purposes of insurance benefits is set forth in Article V, Section 7.

Less Than Full-Time Classified Employee: A less than full-time classified employee is defined as one assigned for less than 2,080 hours per year. The calculation of FTE for less than full-time classified employees shall include hours worked plus prorated vacation days and prorated holidays. All references to FTE for classified employees contained throughout this agreement shall be calculated in accordance with this section except for purposes of insurance benefits.

<u>Monthly Time Report</u>: No monthly time report from an employee may be submitted to payroll for payment with a request dated more than thirty-one (31) days prior to the date the report is filed (given to their administrator/supervisor or designee) or the date of the last payroll cutoff, whichever allows the most time.

Section 2 - Supplemental Letters of Assignment

Letters of Assignment will only be issued to employees for the positions and hours as found in the Classified Supplemental Salary Schedules (See Appendix B). Splitting the assignment of a supplemental position may be initiated by employees and granted through mutual agreement of the employees and the district.

Employees will be paid at the rates established in the Supplemental and Extra Curricular Salary Schedules (Appendix B). Pay for Extra-Curricular Assignments will be paid over a three month period beginning with the start of the season for the individual sport. Classified employees must submit a timesheet.

<u>Creation of a New Position:</u> To create a position that is not currently on a supplemental schedule, the following process will be followed:

- 1. At the building level, a proposal for establishing a new supplemental position is presented to the site council or principal's cabinet, along with a salary schedule placement recommendation. The site council or principal's cabinet will deliberate and forward a recommendation to the principal.
- 2. When the superintendent or designee receives a recommendation from the building principal or district administrator, she/he will discuss the recommendation with the Association and consider a letter of agreement authorizing the position and salary.

Appointment: Appointment shall be by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Superintendent of Schools. The Superintendent shall have received a recommendation from the building principal. The appointment shall be for one year.

Prior to June 15 of any contract year, the employee will be given a written statement of intent to be recommended for rehire or not to be recommended for rehire to the position he/she has previously held.

When a new position has been created or when a present position is vacated, the following procedure shall be followed:

Each position will be advertised. The extent of advertising may be dictated by the position to be filled. The minimum level of advertising shall be on the district website. All vacant coaching positions, head and assistant shall be posted. In the event that teaching positions are to be filled as well as the supplemental positions, advertising will be handled by the appropriate District-level administrator. Deadlines for applying shall not be less than five days from the date of advertisement. In addition, criteria for selection will be established and a written recommendation as to the best candidate will be sent to the Superintendent.

Supplemental positions shall not be obligatory but shall be made with the consent of the employee. Preference in making such assignments shall be given to employees under contract.

Section 3 – Release from Letter of Assignment

An employee under a letter of assignment shall be released from the obligations of the letter of assignment upon request under the following conditions:

- 1. A letter or resignation must be submitted to the Superintendent's Office.
- 2. A release from a letter of assignment may be granted after September 1, provided a satisfactory replacement can be obtained.
- 3. A release from a letter of assignment shall be granted in case of illness or other personnel matters which make it impossible for the employee to continue in the District.

Section 4 – Assignment, Vacancies, Voluntary Transfers and Involuntary Transfers

<u>Assignments</u>: The District has an obligation to assign employees on the basis of their qualifications and to take into account the interests and aspirations of the employees. Employees shall be assigned on the basis of their qualifications and certifications in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington and regulations of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction.

Supervisors are encouraged to consult employees regarding assignment. If it is determined that a change in assignment will be made, the employee will be notified of his/her assignment as soon thereafter as possible in writing. The notification will include the position, building or buildings, salary and other pertinent facts concerning the assignment.

Supplemental positions shall not be obligatory but shall be made with the consent of the employee. Preference in making such assignments shall be given to employees under contract.

Reasonable effort will be made to assign employees who are to work in more than one building in such a manner that inter-building travel is minimized.

<u>Vacancies</u>: A vacancy may be filled by the voluntary transfer of an employee. The District will only advertise the vacancy in the district if the position has not been filled first by an employee in the recall pool or subsequently by a voluntary transfer.

Notices of vacancies for positions of more than (3) three hours will be posted on the district website, if the position has not been filled by an employee from the recall pool. This notice will include a job description and a set of qualifications necessary for the vacancy. All candidates will be evaluated in regard to the job description and qualifications statement. Employees will be given five days after the notices are posted to apply for the vacancy. All employees who meet the written qualifications shall be granted an interview before the position is filled. Classified employees with a classified limited letter of assignment who perform in a satisfactory manner through the end of their assignment shall be granted an interview when applying for positions with similar responsibilities open within the following year. Employees interviewed shall be notified in writing as to whether they were selected or not. Employees not receiving the job will be given the reasons they were not selected if they so request.

Vacancies of (3) three hours or less may be assigned by the principal within their respective buildings, from the pool of qualified part-time employees who have expressed interest by placing their names in the pool, It is understood that some part-time positions will not allow an employee to take another part-time position because of the time of day the work must be performed. Part-time employees that have not met the threshold to qualify for access to the health benefit pool shall be given priority if their qualifications and skills are appropriate. If the position cannot be filled within the building it will be posted at the district level.

<u>Voluntary Transfer</u>: At any time an employee may initiate a request for voluntary transfer. This request shall be in writing and must indicate the position(s) to which the employee wishes to transfer. The employee may withdraw a transfer request any time prior to the notification of transfer by providing written notice to

the appropriate District administrator. Written requests for transfer expire on November 30th each year and must be reinitiated by the employee.

<u>Involuntary Transfer</u>: In the event that a vacancy is not filled, the District will follow the following procedure prior to exercising an involuntary transfer:

- 1. Identify the appropriate seniority classification from which the vacancy needs to be filled.
- 2. Notify all employees within that seniority classification of the vacancy in writing and/or in person, whichever is most appropriate, and solicit from them a voluntary transfer.
- 3. If there is not an acceptable volunteer, the district will exercise the involuntary transfer action.
- 4. Volunteers will not be sought when employees have been retained at another level or subject department due to RIF.

Section 5 – Direct Deposit of Wages Paid

All employees shall register their bank name, bank address, and account number with the District so their monthly wage shall be deposited directly into their bank account.

Section 6 - Staff Calendar

The school calendar shall be bargained. The calendar will be developed not later than May 1 of the prior school year. (See Appendix B)

<u>Changing District Directed Early Release Days:</u> A duly authorized Association representative, such as a Building Representative, may enter into a Mutual Letter of Agreement with a building administrator for the purpose of changing designated District Directed Early Release Days for a building.

Section 7 - Insurance Benefits

The District shall flow through all the state allocated fringe benefit money.

The District shall pay the insurance premiums of mutually-approved District insurance programs as follows:

<u>Full-Time Equivalency</u>: For purposes of insurance benefits, a full-time employee (1.0 FTE) shall be any employee working 1,440 or more hours during the year. An employee working less 1,440 hours during the year shall be entitled to a partial FTE benefit allocation and FTE shall be calculated by dividing the employee's total regularly-scheduled hours for the year by 1,440. Total regularly-scheduled hours does not include paid holidays or paid vacation days for employees who work less than year-round.

<u>Long Term and Short Term Disability Insurance</u>: The District will pay 100% of the Long Term Disability Insurance and Short Term Disability Insurance for those eligible (.500 FTE or greater).

<u>Dental Insurance</u>: The District will pay 100% of the dental insurance for those eligible (.500 FTE or greater).

Vision Insurance: The District will pay 100% of the vision insurance for those eligible (.500 FTE or greater).

Health Insurance: The District shall pay insurance premiums for health insurance as follows:

Each month, the District shall provide the full state allocation rate, as identified in the State appropriations act, for each employee (regardless of the source of funds utilized to pay each employee's salary) prorated on the basis of the employee's full time equivalency (FTE). The district shall add an additional \$10.00 per FTE per month for 2017-18 and 2018-2019. These funds will be used to pay the cost of long term and

short term disability, dental, and vision insurance before applying the remaining funds to the health benefit pool to be distributed to cover the cost of health insurance. This benefit will not apply if it would provide identical duplicate coverage for either subscriber or their dependent(s). All single/individual employees shall pay a minimum out of pocket cost for health insurance of \$10.00 per month.

The District shall not use any portion of the insurance pool for payment of the monthly Health Care Authority (HCA) subsidy required by the State. The District shall pay the full cost of the monthly HCA subsidy out of local district funds.

<u>Domestic Partners</u>: At the employee's option, employees may add their domestic partner to their insurance.

<u>State Industrial Insurance</u>: The District will pay 100% of State Industrial Insurance.

<u>Section 125</u>: The District shall provide a restricted Section 125 for all employees to shelter after tax health insurance premium, out of pocket medical and dependent care expenses.

Section 8 - Fringe Benefit Pool

The district will combine all FTE's, including partial FTE's to create the total district FTE count for the purpose of benefits. These FTE's are multiplied by the state allocation rate and additional district contribution, to create the monthly pool amount X 12 for the yearly pool amount.

The district will utilize all FTE's including those beyond the state BEA in these calculations with the District funding the benefit for those FTE beyond the state BEA.

The district will retain all dollars generated for benefits in the employee insurance pool, inclusive of funds for those employees who opt not to take advantage of the district insurance programs.

In order for the District to expend the equivalent of the state allocation rate for September through August there shall be two adjustment periods. These periods will occur in October and November of each year. The District shall calculate the projected status of the pool(s) for the balance of the fiscal year. If the projection indicates that the pool(s) will have a balance remaining at the end of the period, the projected balance will be apportioned to all eligible members in the applicable pool(s) in one of the following two ways:

If sufficient monies are remaining, the health insurance premiums of all eligible employees will be waived for the employee and paid by the District for the period.

If there is to be a positive pool(s) balance, but not enough to waive the entire amount of the health insurance premium owed by the eligible employees, the District and the Association will mutually agree to allocate the pool amount equally among those with out of pocket expense in order to project the pool(s) in a zero position at the end of the period.

If it is calculated that the pool(s) would be in a deficit position, the District and the Association will mutually agree to spread the deficit equally among eligible employees in order to project the pool(s) in a zero position at the end of the period.

Section 9 – Contract Termination Compensation

Classified employees who submit a letter of resignation to the appropriate District level administrator (must have worked five (5) years for the Mercer Island School District) by February 1 for the purpose of resigning June 30, or at the end of their Letter of Assignment, will be given a supplemental contract for compensation equal to eight (8) additional days at their daily rate of pay. Compensation under this section shall be for the termination of employees contract rights and shall not be included for purpose of computing a retirement allowance under any public retirement system in this state as specified in RCW 28.A.400.220(2).

Section 10 - Travel Reimbursement

Employees shall be reimbursed according to Board Policy and Administrative Regulation.

Section 11 - Incidental Release Time

For a good cause, the principal or department supervisor may release an employee for a period not to exceed two (2) hours or one-fourth (1/4) of the obligated work day, whichever is less, when a substitute is not required. Release time as granted by this clause need not be reported on the Classified Time Report.

Section 12 – Classified Job Descriptions

Job descriptions shall describe essential duties. A copy of the current Job Description shall be provided to each employee. The current description for all jobs shall be available in every building. Before changes are made to existing job descriptions, the Association shall be given an opportunity to provide recommendations. Job descriptions may contain the phrase "and other duties directly related to the position."

Job descriptions will be given out with all letters of assignment. End of the year evaluations with classified staff will include a review of the appropriateness of the job description. If changes need to be made, the job description will be forwarded to the appropriate district administrator and then given to the ongoing MIEA/MISD committee for recommended changes.

Section 13 – Reclassification

Reclassification of a classified position may be initiated by the employee or supervisor by a letter to the District and the Association. A committee of a District representative, an Association representative, and a third district employee mutually agreed upon by the two parties will be charged with making a recommendation on such a request. Reclassification shall be based upon job description and any additional duties, comparable jobs in the district, comparable jobs in surrounding and like sized districts.

The employee may be asked by the committee to provide research in support of the request. Both the District and the Association can submit information to the committee. Such requests for information will be dealt with within 120 days.

The District will not reclassify an employee to a lower position until the end of the negotiated agreement unless mutually agreed upon by the Mercer Island Education Association and the District or the District has to exercise ARTICLE VII, Section 2 – Layoff, Adverse Effect, and Recall of Classified Employees of the negotiated agreement. Any request will specifically state the reasons for moving to a new job classification. The reclassification request will be reviewed by the appropriate District level administrator and within ten (10) days the District may:

- 1. Accept the reclassification, or
- 2. Instruct the supervisor or said employee to require only those responsibilities listed within the job description of present classification.

If a classified employee's position is reduced in classification as a result of the implementation of **ARTICLE VII, Section 2 – Layoff, Adverse Effect, and Recall of Classified Employees**, the compensation shall remain at the existing rate for a period of one hundred twenty (120) calendar days. (For example: If an employee goes from an 8-hour per day Head Secretary to a 4-hour per day Secretary, the employee would be paid at the Senior Secretary hourly rate of pay 4 hours per day for a period of one hundred twenty (120) calendar days.)

Section 14 - Classified Vacation & Holidays

A. Vacation for Part-Time Employees (less than 260 days): Part-time employees accrue vacation as follows:

Years of district experience	Rate Vacation Earned
0-3 years	1 hour for every 16.33 hours
4-7 years	1 hour for every 14.29 hours
8-10 years	1 hour for every 12.00 hours
11-14 years	1 hour for every 9.83 hours
15-19 years	1 hour for every 9.40 hours
20+ years	1 hour for every 8.63 hours

Vacation for part-time employees is based upon regularly scheduled hours worked plus holidays designated in this Agreement. Vacation pay will be allowed upon the employee's resignation from the District with fourteen (14) days' notice of intent to resign. Such vacation pay will be calculated based upon last day of employment.

B. Vacation for Full-Time Employees (260 days):

Annual vacation shall be authorized by the employing department or building supervisor at a time most convenient to the work schedule of the department or building but, insofar as possible, in accordance with the wishes of the employee in any amount up to the total of the employee's earned vacation time.

Vacation pay will be allowed upon the employee's resignation from the District with fourteen (14) days' notice of intent to resign.

1. Accrual: Vacation for full-time employees is based upon regularly scheduled hours worked plus holidays designated in this Agreement. For all 260-day employees with zero to two years of district experience, the employee shall be granted vacation at the rate of 20 days annually prorated by start date (earned on a monthly basis of 1.67 days per month). Beginning the third year of employment (see Article V, Section 1.4), employees with less than five (5) years of service as of September 1 shall be granted vacation at the rate of 20 days annually, such days to be front-loaded on September 1 of the employee's third year. Employees with five (5) or more years of service as of September 1 shall be granted vacation at the rate of 28 days annually, such days to be front-loaded on September 1 of the employee's sixth year of District experience.

Years of District Experience	<u>Vacation</u>
0-2 years	20 days annually (accrued monthly)
3-4 years	20 days annually (frontloaded on September 1)
5+ years	28 days annually (frontloaded on September 1)

- 2. **Pro-rating:** 260-day employees working less than eight (8) hours per day shall have their vacation time pro-rated by FTE (projected annual hours divided by 2,080).
- 3. Accumulation: Vacation time for employees scheduled to work on a year-round basis may be accumulated, provided that such accumulated vacation shall not exceed thirty-eight (38) days in a contract year. If vacation is left unused at the end of a contract year, up to ten (10) days may be carried over into the next year.
- 4. **Scheduling**: 260-day employees who earn vacation time shall complete and submit a proposed annual schedule of vacation days to their supervisor on or before September 1. The supervisor shall respond to the employee by October 1.

If an employee desires to take vacation in September, the employee will notify the supervisor as far in advance as possible but no less than five (5) business days in advance of the first day of the requested vacation. The supervisor must respond five (5) or more business days before the requested vacation.

Employees shall communicate with their supervisor regarding the use of vacation days throughout the year. Employees are expected to follow approved work calendars unless a modification is approved by their supervisor in advance. Requests for modifications of approved work calendars shall be submitted as far in advance as practical but no less than 10 business days before the first day of the requested vacation. Such vacation requests for vacation-schedule modification will not be granted unless based on circumstances that were unforeseen or unforeseeable in the proposed annual schedule. Requests for the use of vacation made less than 10 business days in advance will not be granted absent extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances.

- 5. Each 260-day employee shall submit a timesheet/or electronic entry to the appropriate supervisor indicating the hours of vacation taken. In order to assure proper year-end vacation status, vacation days taken in July or August of a year must be submitted in all instances no later than the last business day in August.
- 6. For 260-day employees, seniority shall prevail where two or more employees request vacation for the same time period and operations do not allow for all such employees to take vacation simultaneously. The word "seniority" as used in this paragraph means time spent as a District employee while performing bargaining unit work, from the original date of hire, or in the case of rehires, from the most recent date of hire, less that time, if any, spent in an unpaid leave of absence status or layoff status. For custodial employees, "seniority" for purposes of this section only means time spent as a custodial employee from the original date of hire, or in the case of rehires, from the most recent date of hire, less that time, if any, spent in an unpaid leave of absence status or layoff status. The one exception to the foregoing would be military leave and such military leave shall count as "time spent as an employee of the employer while performing bargaining unit work" for seniority purposes.

C. Holidays

The following legal holidays shall be paid holidays for all full and part-time employees. Any non-custodial employee doing authorized work on these days shall be paid at double (2 times) the regular rate of pay. For custodial employees, see Article V, Section 17.

- New Year's Day
- Martin Luther King Day
- President's Day
- Memorial Day
- Independence Day
- Labor Day
- Veteran's Day
- Thanksgiving Day
- Day after Thanksgiving
- Christmas Day
- Three (3) additional, designated days during "Winter Break"

If a legal holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be considered a legal holiday. If a legal holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be considered a legal holiday.

Full-time and monthly employees shall be guaranteed thirteen (13) paid holidays annually and any other holidays specified by law, prorated by start date.

Section 15 - Classified Optional Work and Training Hours

Twenty-four (24) hours of additional time will be made available each school year to each classified employee for optional work and/or training, pro-rated for employees hired after the first work day of the school year. The use of these hours shall be mutually agreed to by the employee and his or her supervisor each year by October 31 (Appendix A – "24 Hour Planning Form"), or within thirty (30) days after a new employee's first day of work, whichever is later. Plans may be changed during the year by mutual agreement. The supervisor will consider both personal and professional growth in utilization of these hours. Use of these hours may include, but shall not be limited to those outlined in Appendix A, "Classified 24 Hour Optional Work and Training Agreement". Hours not worked, planned and approved, by February 28, will be pooled and reallocated at each site for use by others on a first-come basis. Compensation shall be at the employee's hourly rate. Overtime shall be paid if required by law (over forty hours per week) at one and one half times the employee's hourly rate.

If mutual agreement cannot be reached, the employee may meet with the Association building representative and the principal. If the issue remains unresolved, the employee may appeal to the Human Resources for further clarification.

District-directed Training Hours

The district will provide ample notice and multiple opportunities to classified staff when training opportunities will be provided. Employees will be asked to provide input on the types of training to be made available. Should the District fail to plan or schedule these additional training hours, employees will not be penalized or lose compensation.

Technology Training Hours

All classified employees will be provided 26 hours (prorated for employees hired after the first work day of the school year) specifically related to technology training relevant for classified educators. The use of these hours will be mutually agreed to by the employee and the employee's supervisor. For those classified employees whose additional training hours may be taken during the regular workday, workday hours that were supplanted for training purposes may be utilized on an overtime basis.

Preparation for Paraprofessionals and Other Classified Staff

As appropriate, in addition to the orientation and training for classified staff in Article IV, the building administrator shall facilitate a meeting with appropriate certificated staff for paraprofessionals and other classified staff new to a classroom position. This meeting shall review job descriptions and provide time for training of paraprofessionals by appropriate staff members using the paraprofessionals' 24 optional work/training hours. This meeting shall occur within one month of hire.

In addition to the orientation and training for classified staff in Article IV, all new classified employees and their supervisor shall meet within one month of hire to review job expectations and identify workload priorities. When new items are added to the employee's workload, the supervisor will identify how the task is to be prioritized among existing tasks

Section 16 – Classified Employees Salary Schedule

Classified employees will be paid in 12 equal monthly payments. Vacation and holiday pay will be paid equally over the 12 monthly payments. Insurance deductions, tax sheltered annuities and MIEA dues will be withheld equally over the 12 monthly payments. Employees hired after the beginning of the school year will have their pay distributed over the remaining months of the fiscal year.

Employees shall be paid according to the MIEA Classified Salary Schedules found in Appendix B ("Schedules") of this Agreement, including the Custodian Salary Schedule, Classified Supplemental Salary Schedule, and the Coaching Extra-Curricular Salary Schedule.

All classified employees will complete and submit monthly a classified time report through their immediate supervisor according to an established calendar. This classified time report shall report overtime and additional time with the account number to be charged, as well as leaves and absences (sick, emergency, personal business, bereavement, vacation, jury, release, industrial, other).

Coaching stipends are intended to include all work-related communication and pre-season meetings. Post-season work is paid at a rate of 1/12th the activity stipend for each week of competition beyond the regular season.

Section 17 - Classified Overtime Pay

A. Pay for Work Performed and Authorization of Overtime

Employees will be paid for all hours worked. Absent emergency circumstances where the employee's supervisor cannot be contacted, all hours in excess of an employee's letter of assignment must be pre-authorized by that employee's supervisor.

B. Rate of Pay

- 1. All hours worked beyond 40 hours in a work week shall be compensated at one-and-one-half (1 1/2) times the employee's regular rate of pay.
- 2. Time worked on the sixth consecutive day shall be paid at one-and-one-half (1 1/2) times the employee's regular rate of pay. Work performed on the seventh consecutive day will be paid double (2 times) the employee's regular rate of pay. Work performed on a contract-recognized holiday shall be paid double (2 times) the employee's regular rate of pay in addition to the paid holiday.
- 3. For custodians, all work performed on Sundays that exceeds forty (40) hours for the work week shall be compensated at double (2 times) the custodian's regular rate of pay. All work performed on holidays that exceeds forty (40) hours for the work week shall be compensated at triple (3 times) the employee's regular rate of pay.

Section 18 – Experience Credit and Step Advancement

Initial salary placement of classified employees: Persons employed in classified positions shall receive credit for equivalent experience in education or business, whichever is applicable to the position. The maximum allowance for prior experience shall be that which places the employee on step 2 of the schedule. Should unusual circumstances warrant consideration of experience credit for step 3, the supervisor shall make a written request explaining the nature of the unusual circumstances. This request shall be reviewed by the Superintendent who shall transmit to the Board in writing his or her recommendation and rationale for salary placement of the employee.

All experience credit shall be given at the time of employment.

Paraprofessionals working with students, who hold a valid teaching certificate, shall be paid at level (3) of the salary schedule found in Appendix B of this Agreement, effective from the date of receipt of the certificate by the District Human Resource Department.

<u>Classified Step Advancement</u>: Upon completion of five (5), nine (9), and fourteen (14) continuous years of employment with the district and commencing with the September payroll of the sixth, tenth and fifteenth year, respectively, classified employees shall become eligible for step increases identified on the salary schedule for those years.

For purposes of determining eligibility for step advancement pay, classified employees hired prior to March 1st shall be credited for one year of service for that initial year.

Section 19 - Classified Probation

All classified employees new to the District shall be on probation for ninety (90) calendar days. The immediate supervisor shall submit a written evaluation of the employee at the end of ninety (90) calendar days. At the end of this period, the employee is either retained or released.

Section 20 – Classified Employees Shift Differential

Classified employees required to work a split shift, excluding Supplemental Salary Schedule assignments, shall be paid fifty cents (.50) per hour above the regular rate of pay. A split shift shall be defined as any shift requiring more than ten (10) hours to complete.

Section 21 – Classified Work Schedule and Minimum Guarantees

All classified employees and their substitutes shall be guaranteed a minimum of two (2) hours pay for any extra work period assignment, provided such assignment does not immediately precede or immediately follow another work period.

Classified employees and their substitutes who are not notified of work cancellation at least two (2) hours in advance of the assignment starting time shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay.

A classified employee must give proper notice to his/her supervisor when returning from an absence or canceling a pending absence. An employee will not be assigned that portion of his/her work schedule that has been assigned to a substitute employee unless the minimum advance cancellation notice can be given to the substitute employee.

Section 22 - Classified Bus Driver Schedule

Each bus driver shall be guaranteed 15 minutes with pay per day for a full pre-trip inspection the first time a bus is driven in a given day and 10 minutes with pay per day for a modified pre-trip inspection for each subsequent time a bus is driven in a given day.

Any bus driver who drives both a morning and afternoon route in addition to a mid-day kindergarten route shall be guaranteed a minimum of two (2) hour pay for the mid-day kindergarten run.

Each bus driver shall be guaranteed a minimum of two (2) hours of pay for a morning run and a minimum two (2) hours of pay for an afternoon run. The District may assign additional tasks to fill the guaranteed time. The driver may elect to be paid less than the two hour minimum rather than accept the additional tasks.

All bus drivers shall be paid for:

- Required driver certification courses.
- 2. On-the-road training with the District driver-instructor.
- 3. Standard first aid course.
- Route and vehicle familiarization.
- 5. Meetings called by the transportation supervisor.

Any regular bus driver who provides driver-instructor services shall be paid an additional \$4.68 per hour for this additional responsibility.

Section 23 - Video Cameras on School Buses

The District and the Association agree that the purpose of installing video cameras on a school bus is to enhance the safety of students and district employees; and to assist in student behavior management.

- Cameras will be installed on buses with advance notice to the driver.
- The driver or a school principal may request camera installation on a bus that does not have one.
- Cameras shall not be used as a substitute for a check ride performed by a driver trainer when evaluating a driver's performance or in the evaluation process.
- A driver and/or their association representative may request to view any video recording on the driver's bus. This viewing will take place at the District Administration Center, School Administration Office or the Transportation Department.
- Video recordings may be recycled if there are not any incidents that require resolution/action.
- In the case of an unresolved incident, or an appeal, the video recording will not be altered or recycled until the incident is fully resolved.
- A written request for viewing may be submitted to the Transportation Department by parent(s)/guardian(s). A parent/guardian request will be granted only as a result of pending disciplinary action or disciplinary action imposed on the parent/guardian's child. The district will notify the Association of any requests for a copy or viewing of a video in a timely manner, to allow Association response.

Section 24 - Classified Summer Work Schedule

A summer work schedule of eight hours per day, including a 30 minute paid lunch period, will be in effect for all classified employees covered by this agreement, whose Letter of Assignment requires eight hours per day and who are scheduled to work during the summer. This summer work schedule will begin the first Monday after the last day of school and continue for a period of eight consecutive weeks. This schedule may not start earlier than 7:00 AM nor end before 3:00 PM on any work day.

Section 25 - Classified Work Day/Week

Classified employees whose regularly scheduled work year includes all of spring break and/or portions of summer vacation may change their regular hours of work per week (five 8-hour days) during Spring Break and summer vacation (Monday after school is out for eight weeks) with supervisor's approval to four tenhour days by putting their request in writing two weeks prior to the vacation period to their immediate supervisor. An employee desiring to change his/her schedule after the two-week notification period has passed, may petition his/her supervisor in writing for such a change.

Section 26 - Classified Rehires

Rehires will be required to participate only in such training as may be required by State regulations, familiarization with new equipment, and/or changes in District policies.

Section 27 - Compensation for Temporary Coverage and Classified Substitute Salaries

In the event that an individual employee temporarily substitutes in a position with a higher classification than his/her regular classification, the employee's salary will be readjusted as follows:

When substitution exceeds three (3) consecutive working days in the same position, the employee will be paid at the salary increment step in the higher classification which exceeds his/her regular salary.

A custodian is considered to be substituting for a custodian in a higher classification when that employee assumes the route, the majority of the duties, or duties other than merely "coding" in or out of a building that are exclusive to those duties of a custodian in a higher classification. When a custodial employee is assigned to temporarily substitute for a custodial position with a higher classification than his/her regular classification, the custodial employee will be paid at the same salary increment step in the higher classification beginning the first day of substituting. A custodian assigned to perform minor additional tasks of an absent colleague will not be substituting in a classification above the employee's normal classification.

Employees who have retired from the District but return to substitute will be paid at the same classification and step as held at retirement. People in the recall pool and other classified substitutes not on Letter of Assignment shall be paid at the step of the lowest classification in that group for which they substitute.

Section 28 - Overnight Field Trips

Employees are not required to attend overnight trips.

Employees who attend will be provided an additional 5 hours at \$20 an hour for school sponsored, whole grade level or department level, curriculum approved overnights on assigned or non-assigned work days. An additional 5 hours at \$20 an hour will be paid for each non-assigned work day. A "night" starts at the ending time of the employee's assigned work day and lasts until the start time of the employee's assigned work day.

Assigned days: regular wages

Nights on assigned days: 5 hrs @\$20/hr

Non-assigned days: 5 hrs @\$20/hr

Non-assigned nights: 5hrs @\$20/hr

Special needs paraprofessionals will receive their hourly rate for student contact time and related duties.

An additional person responsible for the health/emergency care for students will be in attendance.

Section 29 - Educational Staff Associate (ESA) Interns

The District may offer a semester long internship to coincide with internship program schedules with a maximum of two ESA interns per school year. The ESA Interns will serve in the respective area that they are seeking certification and/or experience in. The intern will be enrolled in an accredited university ESA program or the equivalent. Candidates would be expected to be in the final year of their program (or equivalent) for certification and/or degree. The purpose of the internship is to gain the knowledge and experience in the school and district setting in preparation for work in the field in these particularly hard to fill positions. The interns work to fulfill the requirements of their internship program. The Director of Special Education or Designee supervises the ESA intern. The ESA intern supports the work of the ESA staff already employed by the District.

ARTICLE VI - LEAVES

ARTICLE VI - LEAVES

Section 1 - Leave Allowances

An employee shall accumulate leave allowance in proportion to his/her FTE. Leave allowance shall be recorded in hours. All absences shall be reported to the employer. Whenever possible, absences should be reported prior to leave being taken. The district will produce a monthly absence summary for each employee, to be verified by the employee and the principal/supervisor.

A. Sick Leave

At the beginning of the school year each employee shall be credited with twelve (12) days of sick leave on the September warrant. The twelve days may be used for illness, injury, emergencies, or family illness. The unused portion of such leave shall accumulate from year to year.

B. Personal Leave

Three (3) days of leave for personal business will be granted each year. The employee will determine what constitutes personal business. If such days are not used, the employee may use the Classified Personal Business Form (Appendix A) to:

- 1. Roll forward up to three (3) days with total accrual not to exceed six (6) days, or
- 2. Submit a timecard for up to three (3) days for additional work at the employee's current hourly rate.

An employee will request Personal Leave by entering the leave request into Sub Online as early as possible, but no later than three (3) working days prior to the leave. If an employee intends to use three (3) or more consecutive days, the employee shall inform his/her supervisor at least ten (10) work days in advance of the planned absences.

Bus Drivers: When requesting leave, bus drivers do not use Sub Online but instead work directly with dispatch and their supervisor to make absence arrangements. In order to maintain district operations and use of personal business days, bus drivers shall pre-arrange personal business days with their supervisor and may access no more than one personal business day every 90 calendar days commencing with the first day of school. Exceptions may be authorized by the supervisor. If personal business days are not used, bus drivers may submit the Bus Driver Personal Business form (Appendix A) for up to three (3) days, at their current rate of pay.

C. Bereavement Leave

Bereavement leave is the paid leave that reasonably follows the death of a family or household member or other such loved ones. Employees are entitled up to ten (10) days annually for bereavement leave for occasions within the immediate family (spouse, domestic partner, significant other, parent, grandparent, sibling, children, grandchildren, in-laws, or members of the employee's household). For other occasions employees are entitled up to five (5) days annually for bereavement leave. Employees who may have a need for additional days due to extenuating or unusual circumstances may request additional days through Human Resources. No more than ten (10) days will be used annually for bereavement leave.

D. Religious Observance Leave: Employee's may request up to two unpaid holidays per calendar year for a reason of faith or conscience or an organized activity conducted under the auspices of a religious denomination, church or religious organization.

Employees whose religious affiliation requires observance of mandatory holy days during work hours may elect to charge part or all of these two days against their own sick/emergency leave balance.

ARTICLE VI – LEAVES

Section 2 - Sick-leave Conversion

In January of the year following any year in which a minimum of sixty (60) days of leave for illness or injury is accrued, and each January thereafter, any eligible employee may exercise an option to receive remuneration for unused leave for illness or injury accumulated in the previous year at a rate equal to one day's monetary compensation of the employee for each four full days of accrued leave for illness or injury in excess of sixty (60) days. Leave for illness or injury for which compensation has been received shall be deducted from accrued leave for illness or injury at the rate of four days for every one day's monetary compensation.

At the time of separation from the school district due to retirement or death, an eligible employee or the employee's estate shall receive remuneration at a rate equal to one day's current monetary compensation of the employee for each four full day's accrued leave for illness or injury accumulated at a rate of one day per month.

Remuneration of eligible accrued sick leave days upon retirement or death is limited to an accumulated total of 180 days. However, in lieu of cash remuneration for unused sick leave at retirement, and annually for employees with more than 180 days of unused sick leave, the District shall provide a medical expense reimbursement plan in accordance with the following agreement:

The District has adopted the VEBA III Sick Leave Conversion Medical Reimbursement Plan (the "Plan") pursuant to RCW 28A.400.210 and agrees to make contributions to the Plan on behalf of all employees in the collective bargaining unit who are eligible to participate in the Plan by reason of having excess sick leave conversion rights. Contributions on behalf of each eligible employee shall be based on the conversion value of sick leave credits to the account of such employee available for contribution on an annual basis and at retirement in accordance with the statute. It is understood that all eligible employees will be required to sign and submit to the District a hold harmless agreement complying with the statute.

For purposes of retirement contributions to the Plan, all employees covered by this agreement who retire during the term hereof shall be eligible, and excess sick leave shall be defined as the unused sick leave days accruing to the credit of such employee from the date of this agreement.

For purposes of annual contributions to the Plan, all employees covered by this agreement who have accumulated over 180 days of unused sick leave as of the date of conversion, and also had accumulated 180 days as of one year prior to the date of conversion, shall be eligible. Excess sick leave shall be defined as the unused sick leave days that have accrued to the credit of the employee that are in excess of 180 days, and the conversion value of these days shall be contributed to the Plan.

Section 3 – Family and Medical Leave

The District recognizes that the demands of the workplace and of families need to be balanced to promote family stability and economic security for school district employees. All terms and conditions stated herein shall be consistent with applicable statutes.

Each eligible district employee shall be entitled to up to twelve (12) weeks of unpaid leave to:

- 1. Care for the employee's child following birth, adoption, or placement of a foster child; or
- 2. Care for the employee's family or household member with a serious health condition; or
- 3. Care for the employee's own serious health condition.

During such unpaid leave, health benefits will continue to be provided by the district at district expense, but no seniority or other benefits shall accrue to the employee. Eligible employees are those employees who have worked for the district for at least one year and who completed at least 1250 hours of district service during the year prior to the one in which the leave is requested.

ARTICLE VI – LEAVES

Family and medical leave taken in accordance with this policy must be taken full-time and consecutively unless an alternative schedule is approved by the superintendent or designee, or where intermittent or reduced leave is medically necessary. The superintendent may require written verification of the employee's need for taking family and medical leave. The District may, at District expense, obtain the opinion of a health care provider concerning the application. An employee applying for family and medical leave must provide to the district thirty (30) days in advance, except where such notice is not possible, in which event notice shall be provided as soon as practical under the circumstances.

Upon return to the district from authorized family and medical leave, the eligible employee will be restored to the same position or another position with equivalent pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment. Eligible employees are not entitled to restoration to an employment position with the district if an employee's specific job has been eliminated due to restructuring or a reduction in force resulting from lack of funds or lack of work. The eligible employee may also be denied restoration to their former position if they have a taken a position with another employer, or fails to return on the established ending date of the family or medical leave without the superintendent's approval. District instructional staff may be required to delay their return from family and medical leave to the beginnings of the next semester, in accordance with applicable law. Further, instructional staff may be required to transfer to another position with equivalent pay and benefits when intermittent or reduced-schedule leave is requested and approved or is medically necessary.

Section 4 - Maternity Disability Leave

A female employee may use sick leave any time she is unable to report to duty due to a temporary physical disability related to pregnancy, childbirth, miscarriage, or abortion.

- 1. Documentation will not be required for the first 30 working days of maternity disability leave.
- 2. Sick leave may continue beyond 30 working days with written verification of the employee's need from the medical provider. If an employee uses all of her sick leave, the District will grant unpaid leave for the duration of the employee's temporary disability.
- 3. Employees intending to use maternity disability leave shall give the district reasonable notification.
- 3. A pregnant employee may continue to work until in the judgment of her personal physician, her work or health are in any way impaired by her condition.
- 4. Following maternity disability leave, the employee in most cases will return to the same position, but in some cases the employee will be placed in a similar position for which she is qualified.
- 5. If an employee requests Family Medical Leave (FMLA), it will begin immediately following the maternity leave. Under Washington state law, the disability portion of the mother's leave shall not count against the 12 week entitlement under FMLA.
- 6. Employees on maternity disability leave shall notify the district 30 calendar days prior to the intended date of return.

Section 5 - Parental Leave for Paternity or Adoption

When the employee is not the birth parent, the employee may request parental leave in case of the birth or adoption of a child. An employee may request to use up to 30 days of sick leave each year. Employees intending to use parental leave shall give the district reasonable advance notification when possible. Parental leave must be taken full-time and consecutively unless an alternative schedule is approved by the superintendent or designee, or where intermittent or reduced leave is medically necessary. Parental leave shall run concurrently with any entitlement to Family and Medical Leave (FMLA).

ARTICLE VI - LEAVES

Section 6 - Leave of Absence Without Pay

A leave of absence, without pay, for a period not to exceed one (1) year may be granted by the Board of Directors to an employee for the reasons specified below. Such leave may only be extended for not more than two additional consecutive years for reasons 3 or 4 below. For the purpose of this section a year shall mean any time the employee is on leave without pay for a period of at least 55 consecutive working days for all or any portion of his/her District FTE employment:

Reasons for leave of absence may include but not be limited to:

- 1. Professional leave and/or employment leave.
- 2. Personal growth leave and/or travel leave.
- 3. Pursuit of an advanced degree related to the field of education.
- 4. Illness, temporary disability, maternity leave, childrearing and/or adoption.

The District will make every attempt to place the employee in a similar position upon return to the District.

A leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed fifty four (54) working days may be granted by the Superintendent or his/her designee.

Written notification of intent to return from a leave must be received by the appropriate District level administrator on or before March 1, otherwise, the district shall assume that the employee is not returning to his/her position. Employees on child care leave and disability leave shall notify the district of their intention to return at least one month prior to the expected date of their return.

Section 7 - Military Leave

Active Military Duty: Every employee who is a member of the Washington National Guard or of the Army, Navy, Air Force, Coast Guard, or Marine Corps Reserves of the United Sates, or of any organized reserve or armed forces of the United States shall be entitled to and shall be granted military leave of absence from such employment for a period not exceeding fifteen (15) days during each calendar year. Such leave shall be granted in order that the person may take part in active training duty in such manner and at such time as he/she may be ordered to active training duty.

Such military leave of absence shall be in addition to any vacation or sick leave to which the employee might otherwise be entitled, and shall not involve any loss of privileges or pay. During the period of military leave, the employee shall receive normal pay.

Extended Active Duty: All present employees who have been called or volunteer (because of imminent compulsory duty) for active duty in the armed services of the United States, irrespective of a state or national emergency being declared, will accrue experience credits equal to what they would have had with continuous employment in the District to a maximum of two (2) years, providing they return to the School District at the beginning of the next school year after release from military duty. Additional time may be granted at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Special consideration may be given to employees who choose to enlist during time of national emergency.

A guarantee of re-employment after military leave is contingent upon notification to the Personnel Office at least four (4) months before the commencement of the next school year of the intent to return.

An employee does not waive any rights in the District if, after release from military service, he/she is employed in another school district for an interim period previous to the commencement of classes for the next school year.

ARTICLE VI - LEAVES

All accumulated sick leave and other employee benefits will revert to the employee when he/she returns to the School District. However, no employee benefits will accrue during absence from the School District.

Section 8 – Jury Duty and Subpoena Leave

Leaves of absence with pay shall be granted for jury duty. Any compensation, excluding travel and meals, received for jury duty performed on work days shall be refunded to the District or be deducted from the employee's salary. The employee shall notify the District when notification to serve on jury duty is received.

Leave of absence with pay shall be granted when an employee is subpoenaed to appear in a court of law. If any witness fees, excluding travel and meals, are paid for court appearance during a work day, that amount shall be refunded to the District or deducted from the employee's regular pay. The employee shall notify the District when subpoenaed to appear in court.

Section 9 - Attendance at Meetings, Conferences and Special Events

Meetings, conferences, symposiums, seminars, and special events at which concerns vital to the profession are the subject of discussions or at which participation of the employee enhances the District's position are recognized by the District as an inherent part of the professional obligation of the employee.

Such leaves may be granted by request to the Superintendent of Schools on one of the following bases:

1. Full payment leave:

Substitute and necessary expenses paid by the District. This category applies to employees authorized by the Board to represent the District at professional conferences, meetings, symposiums, and seminars.

Partial payment leave:

Substitute paid by the District. Necessary expenses paid by the District, outside agency, or the employee.

Substitute not needed. Necessary expenses paid by the District, outside agency, or the employee.

Employee may petition to the Superintendent for other partial payment arrangements.

Section 10 - Association Leave

Leave shall be granted to Association representatives for matters stemming from or related to the local bargaining relationship, including conferences and negotiations with the employer, contract administration and maintenance, investigation of grievances, preparation for the participation in grievance arbitration hearings, representation of the Mercer Island Education Association at the WEA Representative Assembly and attendance at workshops or other activities concerning labor relations and/or legislation related to wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment of educational employees. The Association will reimburse the District for the cost of substitutes during such leave.

Goals and Criteria

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors of the Mercer Island School District to operate a quality educational program within the framework of state requirements and the financial resources available, and in so doing, determine the programs to be maintained and the number of employees to maintain them. Quality education for students, as well as fair and just treatment of employees, shall always be prime considerations.

If an educational program or service is to be reduced, modified, or eliminated, all employees, including those adversely affected, are to be listed in appropriate categories based on their assignment(s) in the district. The criterion for determining which employees are retained is seniority within the categories to which they have been assigned. This article defines seniority rules, timelines, and processes to be followed for layoff, adverse effect and recall.

Section 1 - Program Reductions

Following are the factors to be considered prior to designating which programs and services are to be reduced and which employees are to be retained. The factors used by the Superintendent in making recommendations to the Board of Directors on the educational programs or services to be provided by the District are as follows:

- 1. The funds available for use during the time span encompassed by the program or service recommendations.
 - a. The administration of the School District will continuously seek funds from the local, state, and/or federal sources to supplement the funding from the normal sources.
 - b. The Board will adopt a budget annually. This action shall be considered verification that the Board is satisfied that a reasonable effort has been made to seek out, apply for, and negotiate for funds from all known sources.
 - c. The funds available for the implementation of the educational program or service may be reviewed by the official employee organization. The review of anticipated and/or predicted funds available for the ensuing year may be conducted by a group consisting of the president of the official employee organization, the organization's designated fiscal expert, the Superintendent and the Superintendent's fiscal expert.
 - d. Non-salary expenditures shall be reduced where practicable.
 - e. Programs dependent upon categorical support will be maintained within this support where possible.
- 2. The needs of students as determined by historical subject enrollments of students, district requirements for graduation, requirements for accreditation, and minimum program requirements in accordance with WAC 180-15-165 and RCW 28A.230.020 through .060.
- 3. The positions needed to operate the educational program or services developed under 1) and 2) above.

The administration will determine the number of staff necessary after taking into account:

- 1. Normal attrition.
- 2. Applications for leave of absence.

3. Accepting voluntary applications for part-time contracts where such staffing does not prove to be an impediment to the total program.

The recommendations of the Superintendent to the Board of Directors shall be made available in writing to the official employee organization at the same time they are transmitted to the Board of Directors. The official employee organization shall have five (5) business days to review and respond to the Superintendent's recommendations to the Board of Directors.

Section 2 - Seniority

- 1. **Categories of Seniority:** The categories of seniority consist of the twenty-four (24) specific "Classified Salary Positions" (See Appendix B).
- 2. Qualifications Which Determine Eligibility for the Categories of Seniority:

The employee shall hold any license or other credential specified by law for his/her position.

The employee shall have prior satisfactory service in that category, in the district.

- 3. Seniority for Letters of Assignment: All employees new to the District shall be issued Limited Letters of Assignment for the first three years of employment in the district. Employees on a Limited Letter of Assignment shall not accrue seniority. An employee will be given a Letter of Assignment as they begin their fourth year and given seniority credit for any years worked, in specific categories, under a Limited Letter of Assignment. Employment which begins before March 1 will count as one year of employment.
- 4. Seniority for Category Ranking: Employees' names will appear in all categories for which they have worked within the district, once they have been issued a Letter of Assignment. An employee's seniority within a category shall be determined by total years of employment in that category. The employee shall be credited retroactively for years of service in each category upon receiving a Letter of Assignment. Employees hired prior to March 1st shall be credited for one year of service for that initial year.

Only employees on Letter of Assignment, or on approved leave during the current contract year, shall be eligible for seniority status within this Agreement when classified employees are laid off or adversely affected during the contract year.

- 5. **Temporary Assignments:** Over load hours, McKinney Vento hours, leave replacement assignments, long term substitute assignments, and other temporary positions in excess of 45 days, which do not carry over from year to year, are temporary assignments and shall always be on a Limited Letter of Assignment. The assignment will apply toward seniority for non-temporary assignments in the same category, beginning in the fourth year.
- 6. Provisional Status: Employees taking a position in a new category shall enter a one year provisional status. During this period their seniority status in the new category is suspended and they will be placed on a Limited Letter of Assignment for one year. The employee shall be credited for the year of provisional status when they receive a Letter of Assignment.
- 7. **Tie Breaking Mechanism:** Where there is a tie for a particular position, the employee with the earliest date of hire within the district will receive preference. If there is still a tie it shall be determined by the flip of a coin.
- 8. **Prior Employees:** If an employee leaves the district, and returns to employment within one year, they do not lose credit for their previous years of service.
- 9. **Employees on Leave:** Employees on leave will not receive credit for the time on leave, but upon his or her return earlier length of service will be credited.

Section 3 - Timeline for Notice of Seniority Ranking

- 1. **Seniority Ranking:** Prior to February 20 of each school year, the Superintendent shall publish and distribute to all classified members a list ranking each employee by district experience (from greatest to least) in their appropriate categories of seniority. It is the responsibility of each employee to verify his or her experience ranking and to report any dispute thereof in writing to the District and the Association by March 20, or the first working day after March 20.
- 2. **Category:** The employee's appropriate seniority category(s) is/are the one(s) in which he/she has been assigned within the District.

Section 4 - Layoff/Adverse Effect/Reduction in Force

The district may reduce the total work hours of individual employees receiving a Letter of Assignment up to thirty (30) minutes per day, as long as notice of the reduction comes before the open enrollment period for changes in insurance benefits and the reduction does not cause an employee qualified for health benefits to fall below the qualifying threshold. Adjustment in excess of this amount will be considered to have adverse effect and be subject to the adverse effect/layoff procedures in this article. This applies to all employees beginning in their fourth year of employment, with the exception of any temporary positions (See Section 2.5 above).

This section does not apply to the category of school bus driver.

In the event that the District must place a classified employee in a lower paying category and/or reduce the hours and/or days worked, the employee may accept the following options:

- 1. Accept the lower paying category and/or
- 2. Accept reduced hours, or
- 3. Accept layoff (See §5).
- 4. If the employee accepts option 1) above, then the compensation shall remain at the existing level for a period of one-hundred twenty (120) days or until the end of the term of the current Letter of Assignment, whichever comes first.
- 5. If the employee adversely affected, by elimination of a position or reduction of hours, is not the least senior employee in that category, they may displace the least senior employee in that category, provided that they possess the required qualifications outlined in the job posting. The displaced employee goes into the recall pool.
 - If there are multiple adversely affected employees who are not the least senior in a category, they will be offered a choice of positions, starting with the most senior adversely affected employee and proceeding to the least senior adversely affected employee. The positions offered will be the least senior positions in the category and equal to the number of adversely affected senior employees. The displaced employees go into the recall pool.
- 6. The district will provide appropriate training for any employee who is required to assume new tasks as a result of adverse action and/or administrative redistribution of assigned duties. The request for additional training may be initiated by either the employee or the district.
- The District will provide the Association with advance notice of any adverse action to facilitate communication and to ensure that Article VII – Layoff, Adverse Effect, and Recall is appropriately implemented

Section 5 - Notice of Layoff/Adverse/Reduction in Force

By June 10th, or the first working day after June 10th, the District shall issue notification of "Reasonable Assurance" for those employees who are expected to be offered Letters of Assignment for the coming school year.

If employees are to be terminated or adversely affected at the end of their Letter of Assignment, then notification of "layoff and/or adverse effect" will be given by June 15. If employees are to be terminated or adversely affected during their Letter of Assignment (mid-year), notice will be given as soon as practical.

Section 6 - Recall

- 1. Employees who have been laid off and adversely affected shall be placed in a recall pool for a period of not less than two (2) years (September 1 to August 31) after layoff or adverse effect. It shall be the responsibility of the employee who wishes to remain available for recall to furnish the District with his/her current email address and telephone number. Each person in the recall pool shall be considered an employee on leave of absence without pay status, with rights of reemployment when a position for which he/she qualifies becomes available.
- 2. Employees in the recall pool shall be ranked by seniority in their appropriate seniority category or categories as defined under "Seniority" in Section 2 Seniority Rules.
- 3. Available positions within each category shall be filled by employees, from the recall pool in the order of their seniority, the employee having the greater amount of seniority taking precedence over the one having less. The employee must accept the position offered or their unemployment benefits will be terminated and their name will be removed from all recall lists, if the offered position meets the following criteria:
 - The position is in the same category as the position that was lost
 - The position offered sustains the employee's status of access to health benefits
 - The number of hours are within an average of one hour per day, compared to the position that was lost
 - The employee does not require extensive training on essential functions of the job
 - The employee has the minimum qualifications and necessary skill sets as outlined in the job posting
- 4. Once an adversely affected employee accepts a recall offer they no longer remain in the recall pool, as long as the new position does not cause the employee to fall beneath the threshold to qualify for health benefits, if they qualified in the prior position.
- 5. Offers for positions made to employees in the recall pool shall be made via email and telephone. Upon receipt of such an offer for recall, employees shall have five business days to accept or decline the recall offer. If no response is received, by the end of the five business days, the offer will be rescinded and offered to the next most senior person in the recall pool for that category.
- 6. If there is no qualified employee available in the recall pool, or if all qualified persons available decline the offer, the District can open the position to persons outside the recall pool.
- 7. Classified employees who have been laid off and who request that their name be placed on the classified substitute list shall be put on a priority listing and will be called to substitute for long term substitute positions for which another substitute has not been requested/designated.
- 8. An employee may remove their name from any recall list at any time.

Section 1 - Classified Evaluation

- **A. Philosophy:** Employee evaluation is a continuous process designed to maintain and, if needed, to improve employee performance by meaningful communication between the employee and the supervisor about agreed-upon work objectives and established criteria.
- **B. Purpose:** In order to maintain and, if needed, to improve employee performance, the established criteria and mutually agreed-upon objectives shall be used to:
 - 1. Effectively assess employees in the performance of their tasks.
 - 2. Allow employees to be contributing participants.
 - 3. Make employees aware of areas in which their performance equals or exceeds criteria.
 - 4. Make employees aware of areas in which there is need for improvement.
 - 5. Develop information for individual growth and career planning, for the opportunity for reclassification.
 - 6. Provide a means of separating from employment employees who do not meet acceptable standards of performance.

C. Criteria:

- Performance of Assigned Tasks: The employee shows proficiency in the basic skills required
 by the position; maintains the required technical knowledge; plans and organizes assigned
 tasks to achieve desired results; consistently completes assigned tasks in the appropriate time;
 maintains a high quality of work (neat, accurate, thorough); makes decisions appropriate to the
 level of responsibility.
- 2. **Ability to Work Under Supervision**: The employee works effectively under supervision; receives instruction and criticism positively; accepts change reasonably.
- 3. **Public and Staff Relationships**: The employee is courteous and discreet.
- 4. **Punctuality**: The employee adheres to a prescribed schedule of working hours, leaves and breaks.

D. Principles for Evaluation:

- 1. Employee performance shall be reviewed in terms of assigned tasks and the employee shall be informed in writing and/or by job description of the tasks to be performed.
- 2. The immediate supervisor shall be responsible for evaluation of employees.
- 3. All employees new to the District or new to a position will be evaluated at the end of a ninety (90) day period.
- 4. All employees will be evaluated at least once each year.
- 5. The immediate supervisor shall initiate a conference for the purpose of developing an evaluation plan based on the established criteria (above) and mutually agreed upon work objectives.

- 6. The supervisor and employee shall use the evaluation form (Appendix C). The plan may be revised at any time by specific written agreement between the supervisor and the employee specifying the changes to be made.
- 7. The evaluation form (Appendix C) as part of this Agreement shall be used and completed in triplicate. The original is to be directed to the personnel director and becomes part of the permanent file of the employee. One copy is given to the employee and one copy is kept by the supervisor.
- 8. The supervisor and employee shall both sign three (3) copies of the evaluation form (Appendix C). The employee shall have the opportunity to write in on all three (3) copies any comments he/she wishes to make. The signature of the employee indicates that the employee has read the evaluation and has discussed it with the supervisor. The signature does not necessarily mean that the employee is in agreement with it.

Section 2 - Probation

- **A. Determination of Probationary Condition**: If the supervisor determines, on the basis of the evaluative criteria, that the performance of an employee under his/her supervision is unsatisfactory, the supervisor shall place the employee on a probationary status. The employee shall be given a Letter of Probation (Appendix C) from the supervisor which shall include the following information:
 - 1. Specific areas of performance deficiencies.
 - 2. Recommendations for improvement.

A statement indicating the duration of the probationary period which must be at least thirty (30) days, and that the purpose of the probationary period is to give the employee the opportunity to demonstrate improvement in his/her area, or areas of deficiency.

B. Procedures in Applying Probation Condition:

- 1. At or about the time of the delivery of a probationary letter, the supervisor shall hold a personal conference with the employee to discuss performance deficiencies and the remedial measures to be taken.
- 2. At least one additional conference will be held during the probation period to evaluate the progress or lack of it made by the employee.
- 3. The employee may be released from probation at any time if he/she has demonstrated improvement to the satisfaction of the principal or other supervisor in those areas specifically detailed in his/her notice of probation. Written notice of release from probation shall be forwarded to the employee from the Superintendent or Personnel Director.
- **C.** Conclusion of Probationary Period: At the end of the probationary period the supervisor shall recommend to the Director of Personnel one of the following actions.
 - 1. That the employee has demonstrated sufficient improvement in the stated areas of deficiency to justify the removal of the probationary status; or
 - 2. That the employee has not demonstrated sufficient improvement in the stated areas of deficiency and action should be taken to terminate the employee.

Section 3 - Termination

In the event that `the supervisor recommends at the end of the probationary period that the employee be terminated, the Director of Personnel shall notify the employee in writing of the termination and the reason for the termination.

Section 4 – Evaluation of Supplemental Contracts

- **A. Application:** This section shall apply to all employees who are issued supplemental contracts, except recess supervisors, but only to that area of assignment covered by the supplementary contract.
- **B. Responsibility**: The evaluation of the employee shall be the responsibility of the building principal who may delegate this responsibility to associate principals.
- C. Criteria for evaluation: The employee shall meet the objectives of the District by:
 - 1. Carrying out the policies and regulations of the school as they apply to the position.
 - 2. Demonstrating leadership in the assignment by outlining clear programs stimulating improvement and inspiring enthusiasm.
 - 3. Demonstrating ability in the areas of organization, planning, evaluating and decision-making, including administering budgets.
 - 4. Making a conscious effort to maintain a positive relationship with other school employees, parents, and students.
 - 5. Demonstrating knowledge of the specialized skills necessary for performing the assignment.
- D. Procedures for Evaluation: The evaluation of employees is considered to be a continuous process based on joint participation by the evaluator and the employee in the following three-phase cycle: Phase I Planning for Evaluation: Phase II Collecting Information; Phase III Using Information. This three-phase process is designed to be cyclical in nature, with Phase III leading back to Phase I. Activities associated with particular phase may overlap those of either of the other two phases.

Responsibility – The primary responsibility for initiation of the evaluation process lies with the employee. If the employee fails to initiate the process by October 1 of each school year or prior to two (2) weeks before the start of the assignment, whichever is later, the evaluator will arrange a conference with the employee to work out the evaluation plan. Such conference shall be held prior to October 15 of that year or prior to the start of the assignment, whichever is later.

Time span of evaluation plan: A plan for evaluation shall focus on the current year's assignment but may also encompass any agreed upon period of time not to exceed one (1) year.

Phase I – Planning for Evaluation

The initial step in the evaluation process shall be a conference between the employee and the evaluator to outline a plan for evaluation. This plan shall include but not be limited to:

- 1. Mutually agreed-upon objectives based on the evaluative criteria contained in this policy.
- 2. Agreement on who will be involved in the evaluation process.
- 3. Agreement on time span the plan is to covert.

- 4. Agreement on periodic review and future possible adjustments to the original plans.
- 5. Seeking the assistance of (a) a third party acceptable to both the evaluator and the employee to make binding recommendations, or (b) the immediate superior of the evaluator, to make binding recommendations if the evaluator and employee cannot agreed on a plan or portion thereof.

Phase II - Collecting Information

During the time span of the plan and at such intervals as may be designated in the plan, information shall be collected relative to the progress of the employee in implementing the plan.

Phase III - Using Information

At the conclusion of the time span of the plan and/or at intervals designed in the plan, a conference shall be held between the employee and the evaluator concerning the analysis and interpretation of the information collected. The progress made toward the stated objectives of the plan and/or any necessary modifications of the plan shall be covered in this conference. A decision shall be made regarding future steps to be undertaken.

Section 5 – Evaluation of Supplemental Contracts for Coaches at the Secondary Level

Administrators will convene preseason and post season meetings with athletic and club sport coaches to set expectations, length of contract and provide feedback on performance.

- 1. When an administrator perceives a performance issue, he/she will share with, and document concerns for, the coach.
- 2. The coach shall be provided an opportunity to assess his/her performance and to respond to any concerns the administrator has expressed.

Within 30 days of the post season coaches meeting and not later than June 1, the administrator will make a final determination regarding the issuance of the supplemental for the next year and communicate this in writing to the coach.

ARTICLE IX - DRUG/ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM

Section 1 - Drug Free Workplace

The parties commit to working together to support programs that foster a safe and drug-free workplace and learning environment and to comply with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) Mandated Drug and Alcohol Testing Program pertaining to bus drivers.

The District is committed to and the Association is supportive of providing all employees with information required by the Drug-Free Workplace Act, specifically the dangers of drug abuse and the penalties that may be imposed for drug abuse violations and information about the District's wellness program. Further, the District is committed to and the Association is supportive of providing all affected employees with information required by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration Mandated Drug and Alcohol Testing Program, and the information contained in Administrative Policy 5202, Procedure 5202P and Form 5202F. Training will be provided on 5202F, 5202P, and Policy 5202 before an employee or new hire is required to submit 5202F.

The parties share a commitment to safe conditions for students, employees and the public, and also share an interest in making the requirements of 5202F non-intrusive and not unduly burdensome to affected employees.

Employees will be required to submit 5202F after receiving training on the purpose of and expectations related to the form, and when circumstances warrant such filing. Employees will be given reasonable time after such training to take the necessary steps to comply.

In the event that any bargaining unit member is alleged to have violated Administrative Policy 5202, 5202P or 5202F, the employee retains the rights and protections set forth in the parties' collective bargaining agreement and in law, and the parties agree to follow applicable provisions of the collective bargaining agreement and applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The parties agree that when employees are concerned about their prescriptions including but not limited to prescribed controlled substances that may adversely affect an employee's ability to safely and productively perform the functions of his/her job, they are encouraged to discuss those concerns with a licensed medical practitioner.

Any staff member who violates any aspect of Board Policy 5201 may be subject to disciplinary action. As a condition of eligibility for reinstatement, an employee may be required to satisfactorily complete a drug abuse assistance and/or rehabilitation or treatment program approved by the District, at the employee's expense; however, an employee who is found to have engaged in any behaviors described in Board Policy 5201 is not guaranteed reinstatement, nor does the school district incur any financial obligation for treatment or rehabilitation ordered as a condition of eligibility for reinstatement.

Section 2 – Drug and Alcohol Testing Program

The implementation of the federally mandated drug and alcohol testing program for commercial driverlicensed employees (Bus Drivers) engaged in safety-sensitive work constitutes "terms of employment" under the agreement.

General Statement:

The District has developed and will maintain a testing program that is in compliance with all applicable federal laws and regulations. The District has contracted with a vendor to provide medical review officer services, sample collection services, qualified testing laboratories, random selection and record retention services that meet all applicable laws and regulations. Any vendor selected by the district in the future, should a decision be made to change vendors, will meet the same standards after consultation with the Association.

ARTICLE IX - DRUG/ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM

Specific Understandings:

- 1. The parties acknowledge that Board Policy 5202 and the accompanying Administrative Procedure 5202P shall govern the administration of the testing program. The parties further acknowledge that laws and regulations supersede Board Policy and Administrative Procedures, and that the District's drug and alcohol testing program shall be conducted in accordance with and employees shall retain all rights under such laws and regulations.
- 2. Employees selected for random testing shall be determined by a blind, confidential selection process administered by the vendor in accordance with Board Policy 5202, Administrative Procedure 5202P and all applicable laws and regulations.
- 3. The privacy of tested employees shall be safeguarded in a manner that is consistent with all applicable laws and regulations.
- 4. Any disciplinary action or discharge that is a consequence of an employee's results on a drug or alcohol test shall be in accordance with collective bargaining agreement provisions (including but not limited to the "just cause" and due process provisions), Board policy and procedure, and all applicable laws and regulations.
- 5. Consequences of an employee's test results showing a blood alcohol level of between .02 and .04 include the employee not being permitted to drive until the start if his/her next regularly scheduled duty period, but not less than 24 hours following the administration of the test. Further disciplinary action or intervention or other prescriptive action may be taken, especially for multiple test results falling within the range of .02 to .04.
- 6. An employee's use or possession of a controlled substance other than marijuana in accordance with a current prescription shall not constitute a violation of Board Policy or Administrative Procedure unless such use adversely affects the employee's ability to perform his or her duties in a safe and productive manner. Consequences of an employee's test result showing a blood alcohol level of greater than .04 or positive controlled-substance drug test include:
 - Referral to and evaluation by a substance abuse professional, who shall determine what, if any
 assistance is needed by the employee.
 - Retesting, with a blood alcohol level of less than .02 for alcohol-related test failure, or a verified negative drug test for controlled-substance related test failures, before the employee is allowed to return to work.
 - A follow-up evaluation with the substance abuse professional to determine that the employee has
 followed the recommended assistance program, when one has been recommended, and followup unannounced testing to include at a minimum six (6) unannounced tests within the driver's first
 twelve (12) months following the driver's return to work.
- 7. Compliance with the testing program is a condition of employment. Any refusal to undergo a test as required and defined by law and in accordance with Board Policy 5202 and Administrative Procedure 5202P shall be considered a positive test and handled accordingly. An adulterated sample shall be considered a refusal to test, a deliberate obstruction to the testing, and subject the employee to immediate suspension without pay and a recommendation for termination.
- 8. For "random" and "for cause" testing, the District shall consider the employee to be on paid time and shall instruct the employee how the time shall be documented.
- 9. The District shall bear the costs of "random" and "for cause" testing. All other testing, including preemployment, return to work and follow-up tests, including the use of a split sample, shall be borne by the employee, unless the split-sample test comes back negative. In this case, the cost shall be borne by the District.

ARTICLE IX - DRUG/ALCOHOL TESTING PROGRAM

- 10. All required assessment and subsequent treatment, if any, shall be at the employee's expense. Any available medical or other health benefits may be used to reduce these costs, as may the services of the employee assistance program.
- 11. Any violation shall be subject to the just cause provision of the collective bargaining agreement (Article IV, Section 3).

ARTICLE X - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

Section 1 - Purpose

The purpose of this article is to provide for the orderly and timely adjustment of grievances of individual employees and of the Association of the Mercer Island School District.

Section 2 - Definitions

As used through this statement:

A "**Grievance**" shall mean a claim by an individual employee or a group of employees or by the Association that the master Agreement between the District and the Association has been violated, misinterpreted, misapplied, applied unevenly or unfairly, or not applied, or that there exists conditions which unduly endanger the health and safety of the employee.

"**Grievant**" is a term designating the individual employee, the group of employees, or the Association of the District having a grievance.

"Grievance forms" means printed forms used in the process of establishing and adjusting a grievance under this procedure.

"Days" means work days as they apply to the position of the grievant. Holidays and vacation days of the grievant shall not be included. If the grievance is not concluded by the end of the student school year the timelines will continue into the summer counting business days as days.

Section 3 - General Conditions

- <u>Time limit</u>: The adjustment of grievances shall be accomplished as rapidly as possible. Under unusual circumstances, the time limits prescribed in this statement may be extended by mutual consent of the grievant and the person or persons by whom the grievance is being considered.
 - <u>Time limit for filing and appeal</u>: Any written disposition of a grievance which results from a hearing conducted under any of the steps described in this statement (Section 4, Procedures) shall be officially recorded as the final disposition of the grievance unless, within seven (7) **school calendar days** from the date of receiving the disposition, the grievant files his or her intent to utilize the next step available to the grievant.
- 2. Representation: Any grievant shall have the right at any time to present grievances and to utilize each step of the grievance procedure, excluding Step 3, with counsel of his or her own choice, so long as the disposition of the grievance does not conflict with the terms of this Agreement and the Association has been given the opportunity to be present at all meetings, hearings, and proceedings between the grievant and the District pertaining to the grievance. If the grievant so requests, he or she may be represented at each formal step in the procedure by a representative of the Association; however, the Association shall not be obligated to represent any grievant at any step in the procedure and whether it does so shall lie within its sole discretion. The Association shall be given the opportunity to have its representative present at all meetings, hearings, and proceedings, and shall be notified in writing as to the disposition of the grievances. If an aggrieved party is not represented by the Association, the Association shall have the right to be present.
- 3. <u>Confidentiality</u>: All matters pertaining to specific grievances shall be confidential information and shall not be unnecessarily disclosed by any participant, or by any employee or director of the District during the grievance adjusting process. The grievance forms and the final adjustment thereof shall be maintained as a permanent record in the custody of the Superintendent. All other documents, communications, and records dealing with the grievance shall be filed separately from the grievant

ARTICLE X - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

personnel file and shall be destroyed no more than seven (7) years from the date of the final adjustment decision. If the grievant so requests in writing, a record of the final adjustment of the grievance may be placed in the grievant's personnel file.

- 4. <u>Freedom from reprisal</u>: Individuals who participate as parties to an adjustment proceeding, whether as grievant, witnesses, representatives of the Association, or otherwise, shall not suffer any restraint, interference, discrimination, coercion or reprisal on account of their participation in the process.
- 5. <u>Mutual assistance in investigations</u>: All parties to a grievance shall cooperate and furnish to one another on request information in their possession germane to the grievance.
- 6. Release from duty: All meetings, hearings, appeals, or other proceedings relating to the grievance adjusting process shall be scheduled outside of the normal school day whenever possible. However, whenever a meeting, a hearing, an appeal, or other proceedings related to a grievance adjusting process require an employee's absence from the employee's regular duty assignment, the employee shall be released from such assignment without loss of pay or without other penalty.

Section 4 - Grievance Procedure

The adjustment of grievances shall be accomplished as rapidly as is possible in order to resolve the grievance promptly. To expedite resolution, the written grievance (Appendix A - Form A) shall be initiated within sixty (60) days following the events or occurrence upon which the grievance is based, or from the date when the grievant knew or should reasonably have had knowledge of its occurrence. Grievances related to salary must be filed within this sixty (60) day time period and shall not require correction or back pay for any period greater than one calendar year from the date of the actual event.

The number of days within which each step is prescribed to be accomplished shall be considered a maximum and every effort shall be made to expedite the process. Failure of either party to meet the appropriate time limits shall be cause for the grievance to be sustained or denied.

Step 1:

An employee with a grievance shall be encouraged by the Association and the employer to discuss the grievance with the employee's immediate supervisor and every effort shall be made to resolve the grievance at this level in an informal manner. If the employee is dissatisfied with the outcome of the initial private conference(s), the employee may request a formal conference with the immediate supervisor by reducing the grievance to writing defining facts and issues (Appendix A – Form A). This formal conference shall occur within seven (7) days after the immediate supervisor has received the written complaint. A written response (Appendix A – Form B), with supporting rationale, shall be forwarded to the grievant from the immediate supervisor within seven (7) days after the formal conference.

Nothing herein shall at any time or in any way mean that an employee does not have the right to confer with or ask the Association to process the employee's grievance at that point.

Step 2:

If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the grievant under Step 1, the grievant may, within seven (7) days after the receipt of the written report of the formal conference (Appendix A – Form B) refer the grievance to the Superintendent by submitting a copy of the Grievance Review Request Form (Appendix A – Form B) to that office. Within three (3) days after the receipt of the Grievance Review Request Form (Appendix A – Form B), the Superintendent will either accept responsibility for revising the grievance or assign another district administrator to review the grievance. The Superintendent or designee will meet with the grievant and any representatives or witnesses the District, grievant, Association, Superintendent, or designee. wish to be present within ten (10) days of receiving the Grievance Review Request Form (Appendix A - Form B). The grievant may be represented at the meeting by such parties as the grievant feels necessary. The Association has the right to be present at such a meeting. The Superintendent or designee will submit a

ARTICLE X - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

decision, with supporting rationale on the grievance, in a written notice (Appendix A - Form C) within seven (7) days after the grievance review meeting. The report will be provided to the employee and the Association. At the request of the grievant, a meeting with the Step Two official (the Superintendent or designee) will be held to discuss the grievance response. This decision shall be the final disposition of the grievance, except as noted below.

Step 3:

If the grievance is not settled on the basis of the foregoing procedures, the Association, may submit the issue to final and binding arbitration by providing written notice (Appendix A - Form D) to the Superintendent within ten (10) days following the Association's receipt of the District's final decision at Step 2 (Appendix A - Form C). Within seven (7) days of notification that the dispute is submitted for arbitration, the Employer and the Association shall attempt to agree on an arbitrator. If the Employer and the Association fail to agree on an arbitrator, the Association shall file for arbitration with either the American Arbitration Association (AAA) or the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) under their labor arbitration rules. Upon receipt of a list of arbitrators from either AAA or FMCS, the parties will use the "strike" method of selecting an arbitrator. The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding on all parties. The arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, or otherwise change or modify the provisions of this Agreement, but shall only be authorized to interpret the existing provisions of this Agreement as they may apply to the specific facts of the issue in dispute. Any dismissal of a grievance by the arbitrator, whether on the merits or on procedural grounds, shall bar any further arbitration of the issue in dispute.

Each party shall pay any compensation and expenses relating to its own witnesses or representatives. The total fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the District and the Association. The total fees and expenses of the stenographic record (if requested) will be paid by the party requesting it. If the other party also requests a copy, that party will pay one-half of the stenographic fees and expenses.

ARTICLE XI - SALARIES AND COMPLIANCE

The parties acknowledge the necessity for the District to comply with state compensation limitations. The parties intend that nothing in this agreement will operate to preclude the District from complying with state compensation laws nor to vest employees with compensation in excess of that provided for by law or applicable regulation. Accordingly, the parties acknowledge that the District retains the authority to make equitable compensation adjustments in order to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Before any adjustments are made, the District will consult with the Association and share all calculated data.

ARTICLE XII - TERMS OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement is effective as of September 1, 2018, and, except as noted, shall be binding upon the Board, the Association, and their members and shall remain in full force and effect through August 31, 2020.

This Agreement shall automatically be renewed after August 31, 2020, from year to year and shall be binding for additional periods of time unless either the Board or the Association gives written notice to the other not later than ninety (90) days prior to the aforesaid expiration date of the Agreement of its desire to modify the Agreement for a successive term or to terminate the Agreement.

The parties have made this agreement based on the legal and financial authority of the District at the time of its negotiation. The compensation and staffing provisions of this agreement may be reopened by either the District or the Association if any of the following events were to occur:

- A. Failure of the voters to support an enrichment levy such that the District does not receive two levy collections in the applicable school year;
- B. The state legislature waives or amends statutory limitations on increases in classified employee compensation;
- C. The state legislature does not fund an inflationary adjustment in salary allocation levels for part or all of an applicable school year; or
- D. The state legislature adds, removes or amends the present salary limitations; increases or decreases funding for salaries; or changes the manner and flexibility in which funding may be used, including local revenue and state funding.

Insurance benefits may likewise be reopened in the event state benefit laws are voided, removed or modified.

Working conditions specific to custodians, including the custodian foreman and substitute custodians, not addressed in this Agreement may be reopened if raised prior to or on August 31, 2019.

ARTICLE XI - TERMS OF AGREEMENT

EXECUTION/SIGNATURES

Executed 21st day of December 2018, at Mercer Island by the undersigned officers by authority of and on behalf of the Mercer Island Board of Directors and the Mercer Island Education Association.

FOR THE MERCER ISLAND EDUCATION ASSN:	FOR THE MERCER ISLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT:			
S/	<u>s/</u>			
Sally Loeser, President	Donna Colosky, Superintendent			
<u>S/</u>	<u>s/</u>			
Tani Lindquist, Lead Bargainer	Erin Battersby, Executive Director			
NEGOTIATING TEAMS:	_			
Tani Lindquist	Buzz Porter, District Representative			
Kathleen Heiman	Fred Rundle, Assistant Superintendent			
Susan Hamp	Erin Battersby, Executive Director			
Mark Headlee	Tyrell Bergstrom, Executive Director of Finance			
Alyssa Mitchell	Carol Best, Principal			
Anna Morzinski	Aaron Miller, Principal			
Susan Robinson	Vicki Puckett, Principal			
Grant Weed				

FORMS

THIS APPENDIX IS AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE MASTER AGREEMENT

Inventory of Personnel File

Identify by item, date of item and signature, if an	ıy:
_	
	tents of the personnel file maintained by the District. The noted herein are a true and accurate record of the edged by the signature below.
Dated this day of,,	
Employee	Witness
Director of Personnel	_

MERCER ISLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 400 Mercer Island, Washington 98040-4196 4160 86th Avenue Southeast

LETTER OF ASSIGNMENT

 $\overline{\mathsf{L}}$

«first» «last» Name:

«city», WA «zip» «address»

Date:

Location: «loc»

Effective Date:

Days «**days1**» Rate **«rate1**» Position **«title1»**

Job Type «type1»

«hrsmins1» HoursMins

FTE ***FTE1***

Annual Sak «total1» If, for the period of this agreement, the legislature appropriates funds in addition to that expected by both parties for the categorical use and designated specific purpose of increasing the salary of specific employee groups, or if the amount of the district's legislatively appropriated salary entitlement is found by SPI calculations to exceed the amount of salary entitlement calculated by the parties, the salary which is otherwise provided for herein shall be increased proportionately, subject to the receipt of such funds by the district.

Secretary to the Board

MERCER ISLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY **AFFIRMATIVE ACTION EMPLOYER**

> **DISTRIBUTION: Employee** Personnel

Classified Site Orientation

Welcome to Mercer Island School District!

An important part of the orientation to your position with the Mercer Island School District is meeting with your building-level administrator or designee prior to assuming duties. This meeting is designed to review pertinent building-level orientation information. Please have the building-level administrator or designee initial each orientation activity below.

The agenda for this orientation will include, but not be limited to an overview if the following topics as they relate to the employee's specific position:

- Assignment of evaluator and the evaluation system for classified staff;
- Job responsibilities and expectations;
- Plan for making up missed breaks due to unforeseen job-related circumstances (Appendix A, Forms)
- Supervisory staff and building or worksite staff;
- Opportunities for Optional Work/Training Hours and how to access them at the worksite;
- Opportunities for Technology Training Hours and how to access them at the worksite;
- Tour of building, facilities and school grounds;
- Access to computers, email, mailboxes, phones, and other job-related equipment;
- Access to the staff handbook and its key contents;
- Logistical information for employee's work time (time carding, breaks, work day expectations);
- Mentor and mentoring plan for the building or work site; and
- Space for personal items.

Again, welcome to Mercer Island School District. We are excited to work with you as you begin your journey with the district team!

Build	Building-Level Orientation has been completed:					
(Signa	ature of Employee)	(Print Employee Name)	(Date)			
(Signa	ature of Administrator/Designee)	(Building)	(Date)			
Cc:	Personnel New Employee Building Administrator					

Plan for Missed Breaks Due to Unforeseen Job-Related Circumstances

Employee's Name	Site
	cted job-related circumstances that necessitate missed upervisor with a plan to make them up, using the following
Should unforeseen job-related circumstances cause break/lunch froma.m./p.m. to	se me to miss my planned breaks, I will take my missed a.m./p.m.
Classified Employee:(Signature)	Date:
Supervisor:(Signature)	Date

Classified 24 Hour Optional Work and Training Agreement

Employee Name(First) (Lea	Employee Number			
(First) (Las	st)			
Projected Activity		Estimated Hours	Date Completed	Actual Hours
	Total			
xample of Activities:				
Attend Summer	Self-Directed St		Office, School C	
Institute Professional Growth Day(s)	(Please Specif After Hours Activ		Environment S Attend Meeting	
Activities	(Please Specif		Meetin	
Attend Workshop(s)	Classroom	37	Safety Training (C	
(Please Specify)	Setup/Prep		Restraint, etc.)	
Attend Class(es)	Display Setup/P	rep	Special Project(s)	
(Please Specify)			(Please Sp	
Collaborate with Classroom Teacher			Right Respons	e I raining
Employees and supervisors are enco safety of employees, students and so equired and provided as mandatory	chools, provided that for	or certain po	sitions safety trainir	
Fresh and O'rest ((D.11)			
Employee Signature)	(Date) (S	Supervisor S	ignature)	(Date

Employee's Record of Completed 24 Hour Optional Work and Training

- The employee is responsible for keeping a record of hours submitted on Time Reports
- Hours should be entered in quarter hour increments (i.e. one hour thirty minutes entered as 1.5 hours)
- As per the agreement, hours not worked, or planned and approved by February 28th will be reallocated to the site for pooling

Completed Activity	Hours Entered On Time Report	Payroll Cut-off Date

Employees and supervisors are encouraged to consider using optional hours for training that address the safety of employees, students and schools, provided that for certain positions safety training may be required and provided as mandatory work hours rather than optional hours.

Bus Driver Personal Business Hours

Three (3) days of personal business may be used each year. If such days are not used, the employee may submit a time card for additional work **at their hourly rate of pay**.

Emplo	yee Name:			
	nt Balance (Through the s Hours (Subject to Forfe		Hours Hours	
A.			nd/or excess balances as pers the last school day of the year	
В.	I submit the timecard be three (3) days. (Comp. which you wish to be pa	lete and submit this time	of my current and/or excess baccard to payroll. List only the	alance, not to exceed number of hours for
		Personal Busines	ss Time Card	
		Dates	Hours Worked	
		Total Hours to be Paid		
All ho	urs must be worked and	d turned in to your sup	ervisor for signature by the	last day of school.
Payme	ent for personal business	hours worked will be inc	luded in your August payroll w	varrant.
Employe	ee Signature		Supervisor Approval	
_		_		
Date			Date	

FORM A

Grievant

Mercer Island School District and Mercer Island Education Association

Complaint by the Aggrieved

Type or Print:	
Aggrieved Person	Date of formal presentation
Home Address of Aggrieved Person	
Phone Number	
School/Building	
Association Representative (Signature)	
STATEMENT OF GRIEVANCE (to include fac	
Relief Sought:	
	(Signature of Aggrieved)
Distribution: Association Representative Immediate Supervisor Association	(5.3

FORM B

Mercer Island School District and Mercer Island Education Association

Decision	of Immediate Supervisor
(To be completed by the immediate supervis	sor within seven (7) days after hearing the grievance)
Type or Print:	
Aggrieved Person	Date of formal presentation
School/Building	Immediate Supervisor
DECISION OF IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR	AND SUPPORTING RATIONALE:
Date of Decision	(Signature of Immediate Supervisor)
AGGRIEVED PERSON'S RESPONSE:	
I accept the above decision.	
I hereby refer the above decision to	the Superintendent for review.
Date of Response	(Signature of Aggrieved)
	(5
Distribution:	

Association Representative Immediate Supervisor Association Grievant FORM C

Association Grievant

Mercer Island School District and Mercer Island Education Association

Decision by Superintendent or Designee

(To be completed by the Superintendent or Designee within seven (7) days after the Step 2 grievance review meeting) Type or Print: Aggrieved Person_____ Date Appeal Received By Superintendent_____ Date of Step 2 Grievance Review Meeting____ DECISION OF SUPERINTENDENT OR DESIGNEE AND SUPPORTING RATIONALE THEREFORE: Date of Decision_____ (Signature of Superintendent or Designee) AGGRIEVED PERSON'S RESPONSE: (To be completed by Aggrieved within ten (10) days of Superintendent's or Designee's Step Two decision) ____I accept the above decision by the Superintendent or Designee. ____I hereby submit this grievance to arbitration. Date of Response_____ (Signature of Aggrieved, or of Association President or Designee) Distribution:

FORM D

Superintendent Grievant

Mercer Island School District

Decision Regarding Arbitration

(To be completed by the Association President or Designee_within ten (10) days following the Step 2 grievance review_meeting)

grievance review_meeting)	
Type or Print:	
Aggrieved Person	
Association President or Designee	
DETERMINATION BY ASSOCIATION:	
The Association, through its designated to arbitration.	bodies, has determined that not to submit this grievance
	ited bodies, has determined that this grievance is tration is in the best interests of the school system. The to arbitration.
Signature of Association President or Designee to Arbitration	Date of Determination to Submit
SELECTION OF THE ARBITRATOR: (To be completed by the Superintendent and Associater the determination to submit to_arbitration).	ciation President or Designee_within seven (7) days
The parties have agreed upon and selectedto whom the appended name of arbitrator grievance	as the arbitrator e is hereby submitted.
Date of Designation(S	signature of Superintendent)
(S	signature of Association President_or Designee)
Distribution: Association	

64

SCHEDULES

THIS APPENDIX IS AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE MASTER AGREEMENT

Categories of Seniority

Category	1
	Library Clerk
Category	2
	Paraprofessional
	Sp Ed
	ELL
	Title
	LAP
	HS Libr/Textbook Sec.
Category	3
0 ,	Health
	Playground/Student Supvr.
Category	
	HS Bldg/Activities Coord.
Category	•
	Secretary
	Head Secretary
Category	•
catogory	Security Liaison
Category	
Calegory	Paraprofessional, SLPA
Category	•
Calegory	Middle School Registrar
Cotogony	_
Category	
O-4	High School Registrar
Category	
.	Accounting Clerk
Category	
0.4	Administrative Assistant
Category	
_	Publishing Specialist
Category	
_	Technology Specialist
Category	
_	Athletic Trainer
Category	
	Licensed Practical Nurse
Category	16
	Registered Nurse
Category	17
	Flagger
Category	18
	Bus Driver
Category	19
	Dispatcher
Category	20
	Lot Attendant
Category	21
	Bus Driver Instructor
Category	22
5 ,	Sign Language Interpreter
Category	
	Administrative Assistant II
Category	
	Administrative Assistant/Student Record Coordinator

Mercer Island School District #400 MIEA Classified Salary Schedule 2018-19

Hourly Rate

		Experience					
_	Position	1	2	3	6	10	15
1	Library Clerk Paraprofessional Paraprofessional, (SpEd, ESL, Title, LAP, Health) Playground/Student Supervisor	24.29	25.21	26.16	26.33	26.49	27.16
2	HS Bldg/Activities Coordinator HS Library Secretary Paraprofessional, SLPA Secretary Security Liaison	27.08	28.40	29.74	29.91	30.07	30.74
3	Flagger	27.50	28.21	28.86	29.03	29.20	29.87
4	Head Secretary High School Registrar Middle School Registrar	27.97	29.28	30.65	30.81	30.98	31.65
5	Bus Driver	28.98	29.65	30.30	30.47	30.64	31.31
6	Accounting Clerk Administrative Assistant Publishing Specialist Technology Specialist	30.02	31.28	32.63	32.80	32.97	33.63
7	Athletic Trainer	30.22	31.25	32.28	32.45	32.62	33.29
8	Admin Assistant/Student Records Coordinator	31.97	33.24	34.59	34.76	34.92	35.59
9	Dispatcher Lot Attendant	32.71	33.38	34.08	34.24	34.41	35.08
10	Admin Assist II - Special Ed Admin Assist I - Learning Serv	36.65	37.39	38.15	38.32	38.49	39.15
11	Licensed Practical Nurse	36.91	37.94	38.97	39.14	39.30	39.97
12	Bus Driver Instructor	39.70	40.37	41.02	41.19	41.35	42.02
13	3 Registered Nurse	39.86	40.89	41.92	42.09	42.26	42.92
14	Sign Language Interpreter	40.59	41.40	42.23	42.39	42.56	43.23

Mercer Island School District #400 MIEA Custodians Salary Schedule 2018-20

Hourly Rate

			Experie	a n c a	
	Title	1	2	3	14
1.	C-1	23.18	23.67	24.24	24.82
2.	C-2	24.83	25.39	25.91	26.49
3.	C-3	26.70	27.28	27.90	28.48
4.	C-4	29.43	30.04	30.57	31.15
5.	C-5	30.97	32.87	33.51	34.09
6.	Custodial Foreman	41.69			42.27
Cus	todial Substitute	20.45			

Custodial employees who perform gymnasium floor striping and District approved painting projects (that are beyond the normal scope of custodial responsibilities) shall be compensated three dollars (\$3.00) per hour in addition to their base hourly rate of pay.

Mercer Island School District #400 Classified Supplemental Salary Schedule 2018-2020 Professional Education Certificate is not required

A (1) 230 hrs	B (2) 180 Hrs	C (3) 165 Hrs	D (4) 150 Hs	E (5) 135 Hrs	F (6) 108 Hrs	G (7) 90 Hrs	H (8) 72 Hrs	l (9) Hourly
DISTRICT		ESA Intern Fall ESA Intern Spring				Destination Imagination Coordinator Tech Training Lead		
MERCER ISLAND HIGH	SCHOOL							
	Debate		Greenhouse Mgr.	Comm./Save/Earth Core Team Drama Asst. Drama Set Constr. Honor Society International Club Natural Helper Street Jazz Advisor		Evening Tutor Supv. Green Team	Class Advisor PA System Site Council Tech Site Planning Lead Web Site Coordinator	Concessions Field Supervisor Gate Supervisor Ticket Sales Weight Room
SLANDER MIDDLE SCH	IOOL				Homework Ctr Supv	AM Gym Supv.	Band Assistant	
						Committee to Save Earth Chess Club Club Advisor Drama Club Green Team Natural Helper Principal's Cabinet Student Govt. Supv Student Ctr. Advisor	Debate Asst. RoboLab Site Council Tech Site Planning Lead Web Site Coordinator	
ELEMENTARY				Success Club Coord.		Bus Loading Supv Safety Patrol	Club Advisor Emergency Mgmt Advisor Green Team Principal's Cabinet Site Councill Sound Partners Student Govt. Advisor Tech Site Planning Lead	

Hourly rate for person(s) with only a Supplemental Assignment is \$24.87

Certificated staff on contract assigned to positions on this schedule will be paid per the corresponding column on the Certificated Supplemental Salary Schedule. Such employees do not submit timecards.

Coaching Extra-Curricular Salary Schedule 2018-20 (Classified Contract) Professional Education Certificate is not required

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
\$6,879 MERCER ISLA	\$5,444 AND HIGH SCHOO	\$4,965 L	\$4,487	\$4,038	\$3,230	\$2,692	\$2,154	\$29.91
Basketball	Head Coach: Track Wrestling	Head Coach: Baseball Cross Country Gymnastics Soccer Softball Swimming Tennis Volleyball	Asst. Coach: Basketball Football	Head Coach: Badminton Cheerleading Diving (B&G) Drill Team Golf Lacrosse Water Polo Asst. Coach: Baseball Cross Country Gymnastics Soccer Softball Swimming Trank Volleyball Wrestling		Asst. Coach: Badminton Cheerleading Drill Team Golf Lacrosse Water Polo		Intramurals
	DDLE SCHOOL							
	Athletic Coord.					Interscholastic Coach Intramural Supv.		Intramural Asst.
Post-season r	rate for coaches is	a pro-rated week	sly stipend 1/12th of	activity				
\$573.25		\$413.75			\$269.17	\$224.33	\$179.50	



Aug

60

2018-19 School Calendar



141	3.5		***					
August/September								
27	28	29	30	31				
3	4	5*	6	7				
10	11	12	13	14				
17	18	19	20	21				
24	25	26	27	28				

	OCTOBER							
1	2	3	4	5				
8	9	10	11	12				
15	16	17	18	19				
22	23	24	25	26				
29	30	31						

NOVEMBER							
			1	2			
5	6	7	8	9			
12	13	14	15	16			
19	20	21	22	23			
26	27	28	29	30			

DECEMBER							
3	4	5	6	7			
10	11	12	13	14			
17	18	19	20	21			
24	25	26	27	28			
31	J.						

JANUARY							
	1	2	3	4			
7	8	9	10	11			
14	15	16	17	18			
21	22	23	24	26			
28	29	30	31				

Approved 1/14/2016

No School (Scheduled Weather No School Makeup Day)

Sept 3: Labor Day
No school for students or staff Sept 5: First Day of School for Students*
Nov 2: First Quarter Ends

29: District LID (K-12)

Aug 27/28: New Teacher/Mentor Orientation

Aug 30: Certificated Tech Training
Aug 31: 1/2 Day Cert. Professional Development
Sept 4: Certificated Pre-Service Day

Nov 12: Veterans Day No school for students or staff

Nov 16: Elementary Early Release-Report Card Prep Half Day School for K-5 students

Nov 19-21: Elementary Conferences No School for Elementary Students

Nov 22-23 Thanksgiving Holiday

No school for students or staff

Nov 30: First Trimester Ends Nov 30: IMS Early Release—Report Card Prep

Half Day School for 6-8 students Dec 24 - Jan 4: Winter Break

No school for students or staff

Jan 21: Martin Luther King Jr. Day No school for students or staff

Jan 25: First Semester Ends, 2nd Quarter Ends Jan 25: MIHS Early Release—Report Card Prep Half Day School for 9-12 students

Feb 18-22: Presidents Day/Mid Winter Break No school for students or staff.

Mar 11: Scheduled Weather Makeup Day No school for students or staff

Mar 22: Elementary Early Release-Report Card Prep Half Day School for K-5 students

Mar 22: Second Trimester Ends April 5: Third Quarter Ends April 8-12: Spring Break

No school for students or staff May 24: Scheduled Weather Makeup Day No school for students or staff

May 27: Memorial Day No school for students or staff

June 14: Elementary Early Release-Report Card Prep Half Day School for K-5 students

June 20: Last Day of School for Students* June 20: Semester Ends, 4th Quarter Ends, Third Trimester Ends

June 21: Scheduled Weather Makeup Day No school for students or staff

WEATHER MAKE-UP DAYS
These days will become school days if needed to make up days lost to weather or other school closures.

First Day: Monday, March 11 Second Day: Friday, May 24 Third Day: Friday, June 21

Т W Th **FEBRUARY** 7 4 5 8 11 12 13 14 15 18 19 20 21 22 26 25 27 28

20 21 - 1	MARCH							
				1				
4	5	6	7	8				
11	12	13	14	K				
18	19	20	21	22				
25	26	27	28	29				

APRIL							
١.	•	0		-			
1	2	3	4	. 5			
8	9	10	11	12			
15	16	17	18	19			
22	23	24	25	26			
29	30						

MAY							
1 2 3							
6	7	8	9	10			
13	14	15	16	17			
20	21	22	23	24			
27	28	29	30	31			

18	JUNE							
3	4	5	6	7				
10	11	12	13	14				
17	18	19	20°	21				
24	25	26	27	28				

District Directed Wednesdays. **Building Directed Wednesdays.**

2019-2020

July '19 SMTWTFS 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

Mercer Island School District

4160 86th Avenue SE Mercer Island, WA 98040 Phone: 206.236.3330 Page 206.236.3333

January '20						
S	M	Т	W	T	P	S
			1	2	3	4
5	6	7	8	9	10	11
12	13	14	15	16	17	18
19	20	21	22	23	24	25
26	27	28	29	30	31	

February '20 S M T W T F S

August '19						
S	M	Т	W	T	P	S
				1	2	3
4	5	6	7	8	9	10
11	12	13	14	15	16	17
18	19	20	21	22	23	24
25	26	27	28	29	30	31

September '19

October '19

S M T W T F S 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26

27 28 29 30 31

S M T W T P
1 2 3 4 5 6
8 9 10 11 12 13 15 16 17 18 19 20 22 23 24 25 26 27

29 30

W	Т	P	S
	1	2	3
7	8	9	10
14	15	16	17
21	22	23	24
28	29	30	31

S	
7	
14	
21	
28	

Aug 28-29	New Teacher Orientation
Aug 30	Professional Development Day
Sep 02	Labor Day (No School)
Sep 03	Pre-Service Day
Sep 04	First Day of School Grades 1-12
Sep 09	First Day of School Kindergarten
Oct 11	Professional Development (PD) Day: Half Day
	Student: Half Day
Nov 01	End of First Quarter (MIHS)
Nov 11	Veterans' Day: No School
Nov 18	Half-day Elementary: Grading Day
Nov 25-27	Elementary Conferences (2.5 days)
	No School: Elementary
Nov 27	End of First Trimester (IMS & Elem)
	IMS/MIHS Student Half-day
	MIHS Regular Start
	Progress Report Prep (IMS/Elementary)
Nov 28-29	Thanksgiving Break (No School)
Dec 23-Jan 3	Winter Break (No School)
Jan 06	School Resumes
Jan 20	Martin Luther King Jr. Day (No School)
Jan 24	End of First Semester (MIHS)
Jan 27	IMS & Elem PD Day (No School: Students)
	MIHS Grading Day (No School)
Feb 17-21	Mid-Winter Break (No School)
Mar 19	End of Second Trimester (IMS & Elem)
Mar 20	MIHS Prof. Dev Day (No School: Students)
	IMS & Elem Grading Day (No School)
Apr 03	End of Third Quarter (MIHS)
Apr 6-10	Spring Break (No School)
May 22	Scheduled Weather Make-up Day
May 25	Memorial Day (No School)
Jun 12	Half-day Elementary Grading Day
Jun 19	Last Day of School
	End of Second Semester (MIHS)
	End of Third Trimester (IMS & Elem)

2	3	4	5	6	7	8
9	10	11	12	13	14	15
16	17	18	19	20	21	22
23	24	25	26	27	28	29
				'oo		
		Ma				
S	M	Т	W	Т	P	S
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8	9	10	11	12	13	14
15	16	17	18	19	20	21
22	23	24	25	26	27	28
29	30	31				
		Āр				
S	M	Т				
			1	2	3	4
5	6	7	8	9	10	11
12	13	14	15	16	17	18
19	20	21	22	23	24	25
26	27	28	29	30		

	No	ove	mb	er '	19	
S	М	Т	W	T	P	S
					1	2
3	4	5	6	7	8	9
10	11	12	13	14	15	16
17	18	19	20	21	22	23
24	25	26	27	28	29	30
	December '19					
S	М	Т	W	Т	P	S
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21

		M	ay '	20		
S	М	т	w	Т	P	S
					1	2
3	4	5	6	7	8	9
10	11	12	13	14	15	16
17	18	19	20	21	22	23
24	25	26	27	28	29	30
31						
		Jw	ne '	00		
S			_	20		
	M	Т			P	S
			W	Т	P 5	
7	1	2	W 3 10	T 4 11	5	6 13
7 14 21	1	2	W 3 10	T 4 11	5	6 13

28 29 30

EVALUATION FORMS

THIS APPENDIX IS AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE MASTER AGREEMENT

APPENDIX C (Evaluation Forms)

				Annual	
MERCER ISLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT				90 Day	
Classified Employee Evaluation				Other	
Employee Name: School or Department:					
	To:	=			
Prepared by: Date: Evaluator Signature:			Date:		
I have read this appraisal of my performance and discussed it with my					•
supervisor. Signature does not necessarily indicate agreement.					
Statement by employee attached:			Date:		-
Distinguished: Results show achievements which contribute to organizational goals well beyond the primary work objectives, surpassing what is reasonably expected for a well-trained individual in this position. Proficient: Results show that quality performance has been observed in the attainment of primary work objectives. Proficient: Results show achievements who partial attainment of primary work objectives. Proficient: Results show achievements who partial attainment of primary work objectives. Proficient: Results show that quality performance has been observed in the attainment of primary work objectives.			ory: v deficiencies which nment of primary of		nterfere
PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL					
Consider each category (listed above) by reading the category definition carefully and appraising the employees performance in the context of that category and supporting evaluation criteria. Appraisal on each criterion should be made independently of other criteria. Indicate your appraisal on each criterion by placing an "X" in the appropriate box.	Distinguished	Proficient	Needs Emphasis	Unsatisfa	actory
Shows proficiency in the basic skills required by the position.					
Plans, organizes and performs assigned tasks/responsibilities in appropriate time to achieve desired results.					
Maintains high quality of work and maintains required technical knowledge and skills.					
4. Willing and able to work effectively with co-workers and supervisor.					
Is courteous and discreet with staff, students and parents.					
Adheres to scheduled working hours, breaks and leaves.					
7. Makes decisions appropriate to the level of responsibility and follows district policies/procedures.					
Receives instruction and criticism in a positive manner.					
Demonstrates initiative in performance of assigned tasks. Accepts change in a reasonable manner.					
10. Possesses organizational and time management skills that allow for efficient planning and minimal supervision.					
In the Comment Section, provide the following: 1) Give specific supportive comments where appropriate. 2) Develop areas of focus/goals for the following year which would benefit the district and the individual's ongoing ef	ffectiveness and p	rofessional growl	th.		
SUPPORTING COMMENTS	AREAS OF FOC	US FOR FOLLO	WING YEAR		

Classified Letter of Probation

Date		Employee
Evalua	tor(s)	
l.	Specific areas of performance deficienci	es:
II.	Program for improvements:	
	Drob otionom un orio de Dominio e doto	Coding data
III.	Probationary period: Beginning date	Ending date
	urpose of the probationary period is to gi ement in his/her area or areas of deficiend	ive the employee the opportunity to demonstrate cy.
Superv	risor's signature	Employee's signature
Final a	ction:	
Date:_		